

## **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

# Understanding Successful Strategies Human Service First-Level Managers Utilize when Addressing Workplace Incivility

Mary Elizabeth Barlow Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Organizational Behavior and Theory Commons, and the Social and Behavioral Sciences

Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Mary Elizabeth Barlow

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Gregory Hickman, Committee Chairperson,
Human and Social Services Faculty

Dr. Tracey Phillips, Committee Member, Human and Social Services Faculty

Dr. Andrew Garland-Forshee, University Reviewer, Human and Social Services Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

#### Abstract

Understanding Successful Strategies Human Service First-Level Managers Utilize when

Addressing Workplace Incivility

by

Mary Elizabeth Barlow

MA, University of Houston – Clear Lake, 2013

BS, University of Houston, 2012

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Human and Social Services

Walden University

January 2021

#### Abstract

The social problem of workplace incivility is a well-researched issue that impacts employees, work groups, and organizations across the nation. The purpose of this study was to understand how first-level human service managers describe employee turnover in relation to workplace incivility and what first-level human service managers view as successful strategies they have used to address workplace incivility. The theoretical framework utilized for this study was incivility spiral theory, as described by Andersson and Pearson. The purpose of this generic qualitative study was to gain an understanding of successful strategies that first-level human service managers utilize when addressing workplace incivility that aids in reducing turnover. Semistructured interviews were conducted via ZOOM video conferencing with 10 current or previous first-level managers in a human service organization. The themes that emerged, after interviews were transcribed and coded, not only revealed that good employees are being lost as a result of workplace incivility, but that managers used real life experiences, professional development, and the modeling of former managers when addressing workplace incivility. Implications for positive social change include training that will provide managers with an understanding of how to approach, investigate, and address workplace incivility and the creation of or strengthening of policies that aid in dealing with workplace incivility. Such changes could reduce or eliminate the negative consequences of workplace incivility; exhaustion, intentions to terminate employment, and work-related illnesses and stress.

# Understanding Successful Strategies Human Service First-Level Managers Utilize when Addressing Workplace Incivility

by

Mary Elizabeth Barlow

MA, University of Houston – Clear Lake, 2013

BS, University of Houston, 2012

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Human and Social Services

Walden University

January 2021

## Dedication

To my mother for teaching me that education is the key to success and to my husband for supporting me in my endless pursuit of education.

## Acknowledgments

Thank you to my committee members, Dr. Gregory Hickman and Dr. Tracey

Phillips for guiding me throughout this journey and supporting my development as an

academic scholar.

Thank you to my cohort members for their weekly encouragement and positivity.

## Table of Contents

Lis	st of Tables	iv
Ch	napter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
	Background	2
	Problem Statement	5
	Purpose of the Study	6
	Research Questions and Hypotheses	7
	Theoretical Framework	7
	Nature of the Study	9
	Definitions	10
	Assumptions	11
	Scope and Delimitations	11
	Limitations	12
	Significance	15
	Summary	16
Ch	napter 2: Literature Review	18
	Literature Search Strategy	18
	Theoretical Foundation	20
	Incivility Spiral Theory	20
	Literature Review	24
	Agrarian Society	24
	Industrial Revolution	26

Elements of Workplace Incivility	27
Cyber Workplace Incivility	30
Victimless Incivility	31
The Management of Human Service Organizations	32
Workplace Incivility in Human Service Organizations	34
Employee Turnover and Human Service Organizations	36
Employee Turnover and Workplace Incivility	39
Emotional Intelligence	41
Strategies for Addressing Workplace Incivility	43
Summary and Conclusions	50
Chapter 3: Research Method	54
Research Design and Rationale	54
Methodology	56
Research Questions	56
Population and Sample	56
Data Collection Methods	57
Study Procedures	59
Data Analysis	60
Ethical Assurances	61
Summary	62
Chapter 4: Results	64
Setting 64	

Data Analysis65
Data Collection65
Credibility66
Transferability67
Dependability67
Confirmability67
Demographic Information
Analysis69
Summary80
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations
Interpretation of the Findings
Limitations of the Study90
Recommendations91
Implications94
Conclusion97
References
Appendix A: Interview Questions

# List of Tables

Table 1	Participant	Demographics	69
---------	-------------	--------------	----

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Workplace incivility is an increasing concern for employers (Porath et al., 2015; Selden & Sowa, 2015) and has the potential to undermine the social framework of a human service organization's work environment (Warrner et al., 2016). This growing issue can lead to increased rates of voluntary employee turnover, which presents significant challenges to sustainability over time (Selden & Sowa, 2015). With critical humanitarian missions and a prevalence of resource shortages, human service organizations are especially vulnerable to the challenges of recruiting and retaining productive, engaged employees (Renard & Snelgar, 2016; Selden & Sowa, 2015; Shuffler et al., 2018). Researchers have provided guidance and recommendations for strategies and programs employers can utilize to increase an organizations' employee retention while helping uncivil employees improve their behaviors and succeed in their job (Beattie & Griffin, 2014; Lee et al., 2016). These strategies have included employee education programs, cognitive reframing exercises, and assertive communication skills training. However, I have found no studies that have addressed the success of such responsive strategies, especially within the human services field. Therefore, the aim of this study is to examine the strategies that first-level human service managers have identified as being successful when addressing workplace incivility. In this study, first-level human service managers will be defined as managers who are responsible for managing employees who are providing human services through programs in relation to what the organization offers (Kirchhoff et al., 2013). First-level managers are oftentimes required to possess specific

management skills such as planning, organizing, directing, and controlling day-to-day employees within their program or division (Corin, & Bjork, 2016).

This dissertation will follow a traditional five chapter format. Chapter 1 is the introduction to the study, outlining the background of the problem, the problem statement, the purpose of the study, the research questions, and a brief overview of the methodology. Chapter 2 is the literature review, providing a robust investigation of the research studies that support the viability of this study, discussing the topic from both a historical and recent perspective. Chapter 3 provides an overview of the methodology, highlighting the population and sample, data collection methods, study procedures, the data analysis plan, and ethical assurances. Chapter 4 is the results section, providing a robust overview of the results of the qualitative analysis, and Chapter 5 will conclude the study with a discussion of the findings in relation to the literature, recommendations, limitations, and recommendations for future studies.

#### **Background**

Researchers have defined workplace incivility as deviant behaviors that occur in small, reoccurring frequencies with varying intent to do harm; which violates workplace behavioral norms of respect and civility (Fox & Cowan, 2017; Holm, et al., 2015). This form of behavior is a severe form of workplace bullying (Hershcovis et al., 2018), as common themes in defining this form of workplace behavior include repeated and variable frequencies of unethical behavior towards a coworker or supervisor, rude, sarcastic, humiliating, and offensive treatment in the workplace, creating an unpleasant work environment that negatively effects employees' work performance, and/or

intentionally overworking an employee (Perez, 2017; Rockett et al., 2017). Researchers explained that uncivil or negative employees tend to place the majority of the power for change at the top, or in the hands of supervisors and attributes the negative behavior to an employees need for information or resources (Holm et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2016; Petrou et al., 2016).

When incivility in the workplace remains unaddressed, peer effects can occur. Peer effects can be experienced within an organization when negative employees influence the spread of misconduct and the cultivation of a negative environment in the workplace (Reich & Hershcovis, 2015). This in turn can create a group of uncivil employees (Hill, 2019). When uncivil employees see that the potential risk of engaging in negative behavior is low, negative employees tend to perpetuate their behaviors (Jones, 2017; Rockett et al., 2017). When uncivil employee behavior continues, employee turnover rates increase (Schilpzand et al., 2016).

Employee turnover is very expensive for many reasons (Schilpzand et al., 2016). The financial burdens of recruiting, training, providing unemployment benefits, and the potential legal actions from terminated employees are all reasons why organizations take termination seriously and work to develop and implement strategies that reduce turnover and avoid termination (Bevan, 2016; Selden & Sowa, 2015). Fox and Cowan (2017) found that human resource professionals, managers, and organizational practices play a critical role when addressing uncivil employee behavior. Researchers have provided guidance and recommendations for strategies and programs employers can utilize to

increase organizations' employee retention and to aid uncivil employees in improving their behavior and succeeding in their jobs (Beattie & Griffin, 2014; Lee et al., 2016).

Outside of specific strategies that managers can use when addressing workplace incivility, researchers have highlighted how coping responses should be explored in relation as to whether victims should confront or avoid bullying behaviors (Hershcovis et al., 2017; Linvill & Connaughton, 2018; Welbourne et al., 2016). For example, Hershcovis et al., (2018) completed a study that examined both the effects of confrontation and avoidance as a means of coping response when experiencing workplace incivility. The authors found that both confrontation and avoidance were ineffective when preventing workplace incivility, as avoidance promoted an increase of emotional exhaustion and lower levels of psychological forgiveness, while confrontation could increase uncivil and future targeted behaviors. While it is essential for managers to utilize effective coping skills to address workplace incivility, not all can see that it is occurring within their departments (Sliter et al., 2015; Vagharseyyedin, 2015). For example, most leaders feel that their departments are civil, yet only approximately half of their staff feel the same way (Labun, 2019).

Many first steps in addressing workplace incivility include managers being familiar with the policies and procedures for dealing with uncivil behaviors, so it is paramount for managers to review institutional policies that discuss bias, harassment, and retaliation (Hoffman & Chunta, 2015). Other ways that managers can address workplace incivility include setting clear expectations with staff members before any incidents occur, model behaviors that they would like to see in the workplace, and promote open

communication where employees can openly discuss their feelings without retribution (Abdollahzadeh et al., 2017). It is important to note that although researchers have discussed ways in which managers can address workplace incivility, I have found little to no studies that focus on what successful strategies first-level managers in the human services field use when experiencing workplace incivility.

#### **Problem Statement**

Employers are increasingly concerned of workplace incivility (Porath et al., 2015; Selden & Sowa, 2015) as it has the potential to undermine the social framework of a human service organizations work environment (Warrner et al., 2016). This growing issue can lead to increased rates of voluntary employee turnover, which can present a significant challenge to sustainability over time (Selden & Sowa, 2015). With critical humanitarian missions and a prevalence of resource shortages, human service organizations are especially vulnerable to the challenges of recruiting and retaining productive, engaged employees (Renard & Snelgar, 2016; Selden & Sowa, 2015; Shuffler et al., 2018).

Fox and Cowan (2017) found that human resources professionals, managers, and organizational practices play a critical role in addressing uncivil employee behavior. Researchers have provided guidance and recommendations for strategies and programs employers can utilize that increase organizations employee retention and to help uncivil employees improve their behavior and succeed in their job (Beattie & Griffin, 2014; Lee et al., 2016). The financial burden of recruiting, training, providing unemployment benefits, and potential legal action from a terminated employee are all reasons why

organizations take employee termination seriously and work to develop and implement strategies to reduce turnover and avoid termination (Doshy & Wang, 2014; Selden & Sowa, 2015).

Although the aforementioned research regarding the existence and consequences of employee incivility in the workplace illuminates important findings, I have found no research that has examined successful strategies human service first level managers utilize when addressing workplace incivility. Given such, further research is warranted that could examine strategies that first-level human service managers have identified as being successful when addressing workplace incivility in an effort to address the documented problem of high employment turnover rates among nonprofit, human service organizations (Selden & Sowa, 2015; Walsh, 2014).

#### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this generic qualitative study is to understand successful strategies that first-level human service managers utilize when addressing workplace incivility that aids in reducing turnover. Human service professionals assist both individuals and communities in functioning effectively by ensuring that members of society hold basic elements of major domains in order to live comfortably. This study will follow a generic qualitative approach, as the intent of this study is to explore successful strategies that human service managers utilize when addressing workplace incivility. Additionally, a generic qualitative approach will allow for a deeper understanding of how successful strategies aid in reducing employee turnover. The phenomenon of interest in this study is that of workplace incivility.

#### **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

This study will be guided by the following research questions:

**RQ1:** How do first-level human service managers describe employee turnover in relation to workplace incivility?

**RQ2:** What do first-level human service managers view as successful strategies they have used to address workplace incivility?

#### **Theoretical Framework**

This generic qualitative study will be guided by the theoretical framework of incivility spiral theory to understand the outcomes and solutions of workplace incivility that have been describe as successful strategies used by human service managers. Incivility spiral theory details a pattern of increasing or decreasing unkind acts exhibited by individuals who are unable to change their behaviors and who lack an understanding of their situation (Andersson & Pearson, 1999). Defining incivility as "low-intensity, deviant behavior," Andersson and Pearson (1999) created the incivility spiral theory to aid in determining how workplace incivility is manifested, as well as how organizational managers react to it. I aim to provide a greater understanding of the manifestation of workplace incivility by introducing an incivility spiral, which can be made worse by asymmetric global interactions among employees. Andersson and Pearson further explained that human actors create spirals of incivility because they lack situational awareness and the willingness or ability to alter their behaviors.

In my study, using the theoretical framework of incivility spiral theory will specifically illuminate an explanation of the lifecycle of uncivil behaviors exhibited by

human service employees, as well as guide the data of how instances of workplace incivility are manifested throughout a spiral and asymmetric instances of global interactions amongst employees in human service organizations. For example, because of the dynamics of power and leadership, little acts of incivility, such as microaggressions, oftentimes go unacknowledged by human service managers, influencing these behaviors to spiral into bullying and workplace violence (Atmadja, 2019; Pindek & Spector, 2015). Microaggressions are defined as commonplace daily verbal, behavioral, and environmental indignities that communicate hostile, derogatory slights or insults towards an individual or group (Prieto et al., 2016).

The utilization of this theory will allow for the identification of micro-aggression behaviors, which in turn can prevent the spiral of these unacknowledged behaviors into full-blown workplace incivility (Loh & Loi, 2018). Participants in this study may discuss instances of micro-aggressive behaviors, in which this theory could pinpoint, providing specific information to myself regarding the spiral of incivility in their workplaces.

Additionally, because there are no explicit laws that focus on workplace incivility, unlike instances of sexual harassment and discrimination, incivility oftentimes goes unreported until the situation becomes out of control (Brooks, 2018). Therefore, this theory will aid me in better understanding practices of how principled leadership is in alignment with the development of zero tolerance policies that address workplace microaggressions and incivility (Harold & Holtz, 2015). Additionally, understanding this theoretical framework has provided me with valuable insight when developing the strengths-based,

semistructured interview questions, as I can learn of the successful strategies human service managers utilize when addressing workplace incivility.

#### **Nature of the Study**

This study will follow a generic qualitative design, using semi-structured interviews as the data collection source. I will utilize 10 to 15 open-ended questions to gather responses from first-level human services managers who have successfully designed and deployed strategies that address workplace incivility. Via the professional network site, LinkedIn, I will use a purposive sampling technique to recruit and select 10 to 15 participants who hold a first-level management role in a human services organization. The final number of participants will be determined by data saturation, which occurs when I experience redundancies and repetitiveness when completing the semi-structured interviews, causing her to cease data collection (Ness, 2015).

A generic qualitative approach is appropriate when the main focus of the research question is to understand an individuals' perceptions, beliefs, and experiences from their world view (Kahlke, 2014; Percy, Kostere, & Kostere, 2015). Therefore, I will use a generic qualitative approach in order to gain an understanding of human service managers' experiences and strategies for successfully addressing workplace incivility in a human service organization (Percy et al., 2015). I will additionally use an inductive approach to analyze the data collected in order to identify significant themes that emerge from the perspectives of the study's participants' (Jebb et al., 2017).

#### **Definitions**

*Employee retention*: Employee retention is defined as the efforts that businesses make in order to maintain a working environment that supports current staff to continue working for the company (Al-Emadi et al., 2015).

*Human service organization*: An organization that provides basic human need support services to individuals (Archer, 2017).

Voluntary employee turnover: Voluntary employee turnover occurs when employees of a company voluntarily leave their positions, self-terminating their employment (Lee et al., 2017).

Voluntary separations: Voluntary separations occur when an employee of an organization accepts a severance package on their own without being selected by management when it comes to layoffs. Voluntary separations are also known as a program where severance packages are extended to employees who may want to step down from their positions (Davis et al., 2015).

Workplace incivility: Workplace incivility is defined in this study as low intensity deviant behavior with ambiguous intent to harm the target, in violation of workplace norms for mutual respect (Holm et al., 2015). This form of behavior has also been highlighted as a severe form of workplace bullying (Hershcovis et al., 2018), with common themes including repeated and variable frequencies of unethical behavior towards a coworker or supervisor, rude, sarcastic, humiliating, and offensive treatment in the workplace, creating an unpleasant work environment that negatively effects

employees' work performance, and/or intentionally overworking an employee (Perez, 2017; Rockett et al., 2017).

#### **Assumptions**

There are four main assumptions that must be highlighted within this proposed study. The first assumption is that the first-level managers in this study have experienced workplace incivility during their careers. This assumption allows for them to answer the semistructured interview questions in full, providing me with rich data that can answer the research questions. The second assumption is that the participants of this study will answer interview questions openly and honestly. The third assumption is that the participants will have the professional and educational experiences to answer the questions appropriately based upon the study's inclusion criteria. The fourth and final assumption includes that the participants will answer all of the interview questions while sharing their experiences and successful strategies utilized with workplace incivility in their work environments (Roulston & Shelton, 2015).

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

Researchers use delimitations to define the parameters of a study (Sampson, 2017). The objective of this generic qualitative study is to understand successful strategies that first-level human service managers utilize when addressing workplace incivility to increase employee retention. I will specifically focus on nonprofit, human service organizations, versus that of for-profit human service companies, as I have a specific interest in understanding successful strategies used in nonprofit organizations. The choice to focus only on first-level managers in human service organizations who

have been successful with addressing workplace incivility will delimitate the scope of this study. Managing employees is the responsibility of first-level managers and the analysis of their responses and experiences is expected to be useful for identifying emerging themes related to successful strategies to address workplace incivility.

Therefore, this study is delimited to first-level managers who are currently employed at a nonprofit human service organization, and who are professional members of a LinkedIn human services group located in the United States.

#### Limitations

Research limitations are potential weaknesses that researchers can experience that could impact the reliability and validity of the study in a negative manner (Greener, 2018). The first limitation that must be addressed includes the possibility of researcher bias. Before starting the study, it is important for me to declare any personal biases that could affect the results of the study (Noble & Smith, 2015). My experience as a first-level human service organization manager could add personal bias to the study. Roulston and Shelton (2015) explained that a researcher could avoid bias by remaining neutral, objective, and impartial during the research process. To overcome this limitation, I will use open-ended, strengths-based interview questions when gathering information from participants, with the questions being created via an interview protocol. An interview protocol is where I will contact a Doctoral student colleague and request that they review the study's purpose statement, the research question, the methodology, and the list of 10 to 15 interview questions to ensure they are in alignment. After receiving feedback from my Doctoral student colleague, I will review the information with my chair and realign

and adjust the interview questions accordingly (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). My Doctoral student colleague who participates in the creation of the interview protocol will also be requested to complete a peer review of the study's findings. During this peer review my Doctoral student colleague will review the findings in conjunction with the interview transcripts to ensure that there is limited bias. Additionally, in order to ensure that bias is not occurring in the data that is being collected, I will also complete member checking. Member checking will occur when I will send a .pdf of the interview transcripts via electronic mail (email) to each participant after the recordings of each interview have been transcribed. During member checking, each participant will review the transcript of their interview to ensure accuracy of the collected data. If the participants identify any inaccuracies of data in the transcripts, I will be able to adjust the information to reflect exactly what the participant said.

A second limitation that I could experience when conducting this study could include transferability. Because this research is understanding first-level human service managers' successful strategies that are used when addressing workplace incivility in the United States, the results of this study will not be generalized to outside of this population. In this study, transferability was accounted for as I was able to describe a strong and narrow description of the phenomenon being explored (Connelly, 2016). When providing a strong and narrow description of the phenomenon, it allows other researchers to collect data that thoroughly details of the participant's experiences and perceptions (Nowell et al., 2017). This ensures that there is a wide range of information

that constructs the problem that is being studied in relation to the participant's experiences and any biases that could occur during the research.

One of the study's criteria could also act as a limitation to this study due to prospective participants self-reporting that they have had experience in dealing with a human resources referral for a problematic employee. There are limited ways to determine whether a prospective participant actually has had this experience, or to what level, as it can be deemed as a subjective experience.

A final limitation that I could experience in this study is that of the qualitative research design. Because generic qualitative studies do not necessarily fall in alignment with specific established methodologies, researchers could experience limitations of rigor when using this qualitative design (Kahlke, 2014). For example, Kahlke (2014) discussed how generic qualitative studies can be seen as a mixology of different qualitative designs, researchers can encounter instances of incongruence through a lack of structure to the research framework. In order to overcome this limitation, it is recommended that researchers ensure that they account for their personal epistemological perspective of their actions as a researcher, as well as the methodology. This can be demonstrated when they are building their interview questions, as it is important for researchers to ensure that their research questions demonstrate cohesion and highlight the research structure in full. Therefore, when addressing this limitation, researchers will ensure that they reflect on their epistemological viewpoints of the role of a researcher, the epistemological perspective of the methodology that they are using, and seek other professionals'

assistance when building the research questions that support the need for the study's framework (Bellamy et al., 2016).

#### Significance

This study will contribute to the existing body of literature on the topic of workplace dynamics and will illuminate the issue from a unique perspective. When added to the existing body of research, my findings may assist with policy and practice changes within human service agencies. While current research exists addressing this topic in health services (Kerber et al., 2015), hospitality services (Cho et al., 2016), and educational environments (Perez, 2017), I have found little to no research that examined effective strategies used in the field of human services when dealing with workplace incivility.

In addition to affecting the workplace environments of human service organization employees, future researchers could experience positive social change, as they can be exposed to successful strategies that address workplace incivility that lead to higher retention rates throughout their human service organizations. Therefore, the results of this study could strengthen human service organizations as a whole by increasing mission driven service delivery. With over 1.5 million nonprofit organizations in the United States (National Center for Charitable Statistics, 2016), improving work environments, client satisfaction, and service delivery could have an overwhelmingly positive effect on the welfare of our society and for social change. This study can lead to social change in human service organizations by aiding in changing cultural norms. Cultural norms can change by agencies adopting strong strategies that are successful in

addressing incivility, which can decrease staff turnover. Additionally, rules of behavior can be redefined that can lead a human service organization to offer a safe climate for all employees when it comes to interacting with managers and coworkers, holding all accountable for their behaviors in the workplace.

#### Summary

The need to reduce staff turnover in the workplace of today will only continue to increase in demand over time. Research into the problems caused by workplace incivility, from employee turnover to lower productivity and morale, has been thoroughly discussed by researchers. Unfortunately, research into the success of initiatives that aim to reduce or eliminate workplace incivility has been general and sparse. Reflecting this gap, I reviewed literature in this report that defined the overall problem of employee turnover related to workplace incivility and offers some solutions. However, further research is warranted that could examine successful strategies that first-level human service managers utilize when addressing workplace incivility, in an effort to address the documented problem of high employment turnover rates among nonprofit, human service organizations (Selden & Sowa, 2015; Walsh, 2014).

I introduced the study in this chapter by highlighting the background of the problem, the problem statement, and the purpose of the study. I further discussed the research question, the theoretical framework, and the nature of the study, while concluding with a discussion on the assumptions, limitations, and delimitations of the research. The next chapter includes a robust overview of the literature, depicting both historical and recent perspectives of incivility of the workplace and strategies used to

address such problematic behavior, highlighting the gap that ensures the viability of this study.

#### Chapter 2: Literature Review

Employers are increasingly concerned of workplace incivility as it has the potential to undermine the social framework of a human service organizations' work environment (Mikaelian & Stanley, 2016; Sguera et al., 2016). This growing issue can lead to increased rates of voluntary employee turnover, which can present a significant challenge to sustainability over time (Selden & Sowa, 2015). Therefore, the purpose of this generic qualitative study is to understand successful strategies human service managers utilize to address workplace incivility. This chapter will provide an overview on the academic research conducted into this topic.

First, a brief discussion of the literature review search process will be explained, followed by an articulation of the overarching theoretical framework that guided this study, which is the incivility spiral theory. An understanding of the historical origins of work and related workplace problems will be introduced in the literature review, followed by an analysis of both historical and recent aspects of workplace incivility, human service organizations, employee turnover, and strategies that focus on dealing with problematic behaviors. Management personnel will also be discussed in this review, while it is important to highlight ways in which they approach and deal with instances of workplace incivility between their employees. The purpose of this literature review is to highlight the gap that ensures the need for this study.

#### **Literature Search Strategy**

This researcher's extensive literature review will include a variety of peerreviewed articles and studies that are focused on the historical problems found in workplace environments as well as instances of workplace incivility. This literature will focus on the historical background workplace incivility, as well as how managers of human service organizations deal with workplace incivility between their staff, where there appeared to be virtually no research specifically evaluating strategies that they utilize when addressing this problematic behavior. As such, a review of the existing literature was conducted in order to gain a broader understanding of all relevant topics closely related to workplace incivility and successful strategies that are used within human service organizations.

Additional references, such as published government/industry reports and online sources, and professional industry focused websites were identified concerning leadership styles used in healthcare milieus, and the effectiveness that they bring to each area. Key search parameters included the following: incivility spiral theory, origins of work, origins of work and workplace problems, historical elements of workplace incivility, human service organizations, workplace incivility and human service organizations, employee turnover, employee turnover and human service organizations, workplace incivility and human service organizations, employee turnover, employee turnover and human service organizations, employee turnover and workplace incivility, managers and workplace incivility, strategies and workplace incivility, manager strategies and workplace incivility, managers and human service organizations and workplace incivility and successful strategies, incivility spiral theory.

#### **Theoretical Foundation**

This research study will be guided by the theoretical framework of Incivility spiral theory to understand the outcomes and solutions of workplace incivility that have been described as successful strategies used by human service managers. This review of academic literature begins with an examination of Incivility spiral theory as the theoretical foundation for this research and includes a discussion about micro-aggressions and leadership.

#### **Incivility Spiral Theory**

Andersson and Pearson (1999) explained that human actors create spirals of incivility because they lack situational awareness and the willingness or ability to change their behaviors. The components of Incivility spiral theory have a destructive impact on work environments (Holm et al., 2015; Loi et al., 2015). If left unaddressed, incivility intensifies and the behaviors become more aggressive overtime (Sliter et al., 2015). Incivility spiral theory is defined as a, "low-intensity deviant behavior with ambiguous intent to harm the target, in violation of workplace norms for mutual respect" (Andersson and Pearson, 1999, p. 457). Prior researchers (Doshy & Wang, 2014; Kluemper et al., 2019; Loi et al., 2015) broadly cited Andersson and Pearson's (1999) definition. Other researchers, Hayes et al., (2015), Linton et al. (2015), Mathieu et al. (2016), and Welbourne et al. (2016), applied the theory to researching the personal, physical and safety effects that workplace incivility can have on employees. Andersson and Pearson (2019) developed Incivility spiral theory to aid in determining how workplace incivility is manifested, as well as how organizational managers react to it and aimed to provide a

greater understanding of the manifestation of workplace incivility by introducing an incivility spiral, which can be made worse by asymmetric global interactions among employees.

In my study, using the theoretical framework of incivility spiral theory will illuminate an explanation of the lifecycle of uncivil behaviors exhibited by human service employees, as well as contribute to current literature and knowledge of how instances of workplace incivility are manifested throughout a spiral and asymmetric instances of global interactions amongst employees in human service organizations. Because of the dynamics of power and leadership, little acts of incivility, such as microaggressions, oftentimes go unacknowledged by human service managers, influencing these behaviors to spiral into bullying and workplace violence (Atmadja, 2019; Basford et al., 2014).

#### **Microaggressions**

Microaggressions are defined as commonplace daily verbal, behavioral, and environmental indignities that communicate hostile, derogatory slights or insults towards an individual or group (Prieto et al., 2016). Dzurec and Albataineh (2014) and Mizzi (2017) defined microaggressions as systematic, overt, underlying, nonphysical aggression toward individuals or groups. The utilization of this theory will allow for responsible, proactive leadership to be highlighted addressing instances of microaggression, which in turn can prevent the spiral of these unacknowledged behaviors into full-blown workplace incivility (Loh, & Loi, 2018).

Additionally, because there are no explicit laws that focus on workplace incivility, unlike instances of sexual harassment and discrimination, incivility oftentimes goes

unreported until the situation becomes out of control (Burnett, 2019). This theory will aid me in better understanding the practices of how principled leadership is used to address workplace microaggressions and incivility. Additionally, understanding this theoretical framework has provided me with valuable insight when developing the strengths-based, semi-structured interview questions, as I can learn of the successful strategies human service managers utilize when addressing workplace incivility.

To better understand how the incivility spiral theory has aided researchers in the past, specific results from research should be discussed, especially those that have been guided by the theory. Through research with the Incivility spiral theory, it has been concluded that workplace incivility has been positively linked to instigated workplace incivility, and burnout mediated a relationship between workplace incivility and instigated workplace incivility (Hayes et al., 2015; Laschinger et al., 2016; Loh & Loi, 2018). In essence, burnout can be responsible for employees' uncivil relationships with each other, simply because it can trigger microaggressions, commonly used as coping mechanisms in the workplace (Hayes et al., 2015; Jha & Jha, 2015). Outside of workplace incivility, the Incivility spiral theory also guides the importance of better understanding emotional aftermaths of incivility that occurs outside the workplace (Hayes et al., 2015).

Incivility-driven emotions tend to mediate personal and professional outcomes (Kabat-Farr et al., 2018; Mathieu et al., 2016). Employees can appear to experience reduced empowerment and self-esteem, while also experiencing greater job and work withdrawal, while individuals that companies value the most, can appear to be harmed at

higher levels when it comes to the experience of microaggressions and instances of workplace incivility (Holder & Nadal, 2016; Laschinger et al., 2016). This highlights the importance of using the Incivility spiral theory in this current research, because similar constructs will be studied; however, will be done so under the guise of successful strategies that human service managers use in order to combat uncivil behaviors, which in turn may establish a workplace culture of empowerment and self-esteem while reducing employee turnover.

#### Leadership

Leadership is also important when it comes to dealing with uncivil behaviors, in such that passive leadership appears to have a direct effect on behavioral incivility and an indirect effect through experienced incivility (Baronce, 2015; Harold & Holtz, 2015; Jha & Jha, 2015). This was made clear in Harold and Holtz's (2015) study where the authors sought out to examine passive leadership-incivility relationships between employee and supervisor dyads, then sought out to examine these same relationships in a sample of employee-coworker dyads. Being guided by the Incivility spiral theory, Baronce (2015) concluded that both behavioral and experienced workplace incivility was related to that of the level of passive workplace supervision with stronger levels found when leaders follow a passive approach to leading their team members. This information is important for this current study, because gaining broader understandings from human service managers in strong leadership roles can provide an understanding of leaderships successful, direct approaches, rather than passive approaches to uncivil behaviors and the effect those approaches have on employee turnover.

#### Literature Review

#### **Agrarian Society**

The United States has seen a major change of work environments over the past two centuries (Landy & Conte, 2016). It is important to understand how the concept and condition of work has changed over time, as America has moved through a variety of work-related stages that include transitioning from an agrarian society to that of the industrial revolution (Griffin, 2017). An agrarian society can be traced back 10,000 years and, in some instances, they can still be found today (Lee & DeVore, 2017). An agrarian society is one which economy depends on producing and maintaining crops and farmland (Bennett, 2017). Also known as an agricultural society, the cultivation of land is the primary source of income (Howell, 2016). Proceeding the hunter and gathering society, agrarian societies were established around 8,000 to 10,000 years ago in the Middle East region, where development was needed from previous societies in order to sustain food levels and deal with the changing climate (Chirot, 2011). Agrarian societies additionally began appearing in Asia by at least 6,800 B.C.E., where rice was cultivated, and later in South America where squash and maize were cultivated (Fuller, 2006). After the development of agrarian societies in the Middle East, Asia, and South America, smaller scales or Agrarian societies developed in India and Southeast Asia, where rice and taro were produced respectively (Fuller, 2006).

There are characteristics found in Agrarian societies, including that of them having a higher social organization than that of their previous hunter and gathering societies, as well as the characteristics of the need of having a surplus of food, fewer

technological advances, and a depletion of soil (Marlowe, 2005). Working conditions in Agrarian societies were reflective of that of rural areas in today's world; precarious and hazardous working conditions marked with hazardous experiences, as working conditions typically had no written or verbal contracts, long work hours, and low pay or unstable incomes (Edelman & Wolford, 2017). Agrarian societies typically combine more than one activity in order to make a living (Hall et al., 2017).

Because past Agrarian societies did not have technological advances, the majority of the work had to be completed by hand or with the aid of animals (Stearns, 2018). For example, workers typically had to lift heavy objects and work in dangerous conditions in combination with farm animals, being exposed to harsh climates, chemicals, infectious agents, and organic substances (Stearns, 2018). Because workers in an Agrarian society had limited to no exposure to social protection systems; therefore, instances of workplace incivility were not important in the scheme of things, as workers oftentimes had to concentrate on the physical labor aspect of their job duties, and did not have the time to communicate with other workers unless it was within the scope of the job they were completing (Devereux & Sabates-Wheeler, 2004). Additionally, society morals were different than found in today's world, as women did not experience any protections in the workforce, and oftentimes were not allowed to work in the field alongside men (Borges et al., 1984). In essence, Agrarian societies concentrated on survival more so than positive working experiences, as they had to cope with the cultivation of food in order to make ends meet, while meeting the demands of their wider community (Tisdell & Svizzero, 2017).

#### **Industrial Revolution**

The industrial revolution emerged in the 18th and 19th centuries, where a shift began occurring that transitioned many Agrarian societies in Europe and the United States to that of industrialized and urban communities (Horn, 2016). Goods that were once manufactured by hand started to be mass produced, providing jobs for individuals to operate machines that aided in this mad production of goods and services (Ashton, 1997). There are two different emerging industrial revolutions in the history of the world, with the first industrial revolution occurring in the 1830s and 1840s, and the second occurred in the late 19th to early 20th centuries, where there were rapid advancement by the introduction of newer materials such as that of steel, electricity needs, and the creation of automobiles (Labor, 1990). Again, workplace conditions throughout the industrial revolution were poor, as workers were mandated to work long hours with the risk of losing their employment if they did not comply (Hartwell, 2017). Many individuals worked 12 hours a day for six days a week, with little time off to spend with their family and loved ones (Mokyr, 2018). Conditions included if they were sick and missed working days, they were oftentimes fired and replaced with other individuals who could continue working on the imposing and required schedule (Hartwell, 2017). Additionally, during the industrial revolution, employers were able to set their employees' pay as low as they wanted with little to no repercussions, as there were a plethora of individuals willing to work (Mokyr, 2018). If one employee complained about worker compensation, they could be fired and replaced with another worker that was willing to complete the job duties as per the pay structure (Mokyr, 2018).

In the late 1880s, workers began to organize unions that would aid in solving their problems of low wages and poor working conditions (Cook et al., 1992). Unions represented employees where they could strike in an attempt to force their employer to increase wages and improve the working conditions of the company (Mommsen & Husung, 2017). Today, unions still represent employees in a variety of industrialized fields, with other government legalization that mandates safe working conditions, proper employee pay, and the protection of equality amongst employees (Sinha et al., 2017).

In recent times, Agrarian societies still exist; however, they are marked by the use of technology that can aid them in the production of crops and the management of farmland (Bennett, 2017). Despite these technological innovations that can be used within their work, many farmers still continue to work long hours in dangerous conditions for low pay (Glover & Kusterer, 2016). In relation to the industrial revolution, many historians report that we are in an actual fourth industrial revolution; however, they do not necessarily see it as an extension of the previous industrial revolutions, as it is more of a new era that promotes digital and computational technologies (Frederick, 2016). Thus, working conditions have changed as more individuals are working in an office environment, working to manage different technologies and services that are offered to the public, which may not have been offered within Agrarian societies and early industrial revolutionary times (Neff, 2017).

# **Elements of Workplace Incivility**

Researchers have defined workplace incivility as deviant behaviors that occur in small, reoccurring frequencies with varying intent to do harm; which violates workplace

behavioral norms of respect and civility (Fox & Cowan, 2017; Holm et al., 2015). This form of behavior is a severe form of workplace bullying (Hershcovis et al., 2018), as common themes in defining this form of workplace behavior include repeated and variable frequencies of unethical behavior towards a coworker or supervisor, rude, sarcastic, humiliating, and offensive treatment in the workplace, creating an unpleasant work environment that negatively effects employees' work performance, and/or intentionally overworking an employee (Perez, 2017; Rockett et al., 2017). Researchers explained that uncivil or negative employees tend to place the majority of the power for change at the top, or in the hands of supervisors and attributes the negative behavior to an employees need for information or resources (Holm et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2016; Petrou et al., 2016).

When incivility in the workplace remains unaddressed, peer effects can occur especially when negative employees influence the spread of misconduct and the cultivation of a negative environment in the workplace, in turn creating a group of uncivil employees (Reich & Hershcovis, 2015). When uncivil employees see that the potential risk of engaging in negative behavior is low, negative employees tend to perpetuate their behaviors (Jones, 2017; Rockett et al., 2017). When uncivil employee behavior continues, employee turnover rates increase (Schilpzand et al., 2016).

Research focusing on workplace incivility has increased dramatically over the past 10 years, as prevalence rates are as high as 75 to 100%, indicating that almost all employees in today's workforce have experienced some level of uncivil behavior while working (Sliter et al., 2015). From the research, workplace incivility can manifest in three

different ways, including that of interpersonal interactions, cyber interactions, and victimless interactions (Harrison, 2015; Katz et al., 2019). Interpersonal interactions include where one employee is uncivil to another employee directly (Paulin & Griffin, 2016). Workplace incivility that occurs in an interpersonal communication is rarely studied (Reich & Hershcovis, 2015). Observers of uncivil behaviors tend to punish instigators, while their reactions to instigators were generally unaffected; therefore, it is essential to understand how, by witnessing uncivil behavior in the workplace, observer reactions towards targets and instigators can be affected (Reich & Hershcovis, 2015). This can be seen when the effect of witnessing workplace incivility can be oftentimes mediated by an observer's negative emotional reaction toward the instigator, which highlights the importance of understanding interpersonal communications when it comes to experiencing uncivil behaviors (Wilkerson & Meyer, 2019).

Workplace communications that are marked by instances of uncivil behaviors can additionally influence an employees' creativity output, leading to severe emotional exhaustion (Hur et al., 2016). In terms of both customers and coworkers, interpersonal communications that are marked with uncivil behavior decrease an employees' level of intrinsic motivation, thus decreasing their level of creativity that they bring to the workplace (Hur et al., 2016). Therefore, there is a negative relationship between workplace incivility and service employees' creativity, marked by levels of emotional exhaustion and intrinsic motivation (Schenck, 2017). This aligns with this current study, as employees who experience severe emotional exhaustion not only negatively influence an employee's creativity output, but also can lead to instances of turnover and poor

retention (Al-Emadi et al., 2015). Anjum et al. (2018) explain, employee retention aids in decreasing expenses and provides a positive impact on a company's morale.

# **Cyber Workplace Incivility**

Workplace incivility can be manifested in the form of cyber communications (Park et al., 2018). With the continuous emergence of technology in today's workplace, there are more instances of workplace incivility in this realm, where managers and leaders must acknowledge and address these behaviors (Demsky et al., 2019). Many studies have also been completed from a historical and recent standpoint that address workplace incivility and cyber communications (Heischman et al., 2019; Lim et al., 2017). Cyber incivility in the workplace is a continuing and prevailing phenomenon, as different emotions can arise from cyber incivility that can motivate affected employees to engage in an approach-focused or avoidance-focused response (Lim et al., 2017). This signifies the importance of focusing on cyber communications, due to the increase of technology that is used in today's workforce, as this can be a method of how individuals in a workplace can promote instances of unhealthy behaviors (Williams, & Loughlin, 2016).

Face-to-face and cyber communication are significantly correlated to each of the work outcomes of job satisfaction, burnout, and turnover intention, indicating that instance of cyber uncivil behavior is just as damaging to that of face-to-face experiences and that a difference exists between the effects of workplace incivility via cyber communications compared to that of face-to-face (interpersonal) communications (Heischman, et al., 2019; Lim et al., 2017). Cyber communications are just as harmful as

interpersonal instance of uncivil behaviors (Heischman, et al., 2019; Lim et al., 2017) and this needs to be better understood since technology continues to increase within the workplace, as well as different organizations using different platforms of technology in order to communicate and conduct business amongst their workforce.

### **Victimless Incivility**

Workplace incivility can be manifested and occur even in victimless interactions (Katz et al., 2019). This occurs where uncivil behavior may not necessarily affect or impact another person, but more so violates norms of ethical behavior and workplace courtesy and respect (Massimino & Turner, 2017). Research has also been completed that has focused on victimless instances of workplace incivility, reporting that although victimless instances of workplace incivility do not directly affect another individual or employee, these forms of workplace uncivil behavior does violate norms of courtesy (Odu & Akhigbe, 2018). There appears to be a strong connection between the exposure of workplace injustice through uncivil behaviors that violate a company's norms of courtesy, as employees' well-being can be severely affected, even though the employees' did not directly experience either interpersonal or cyber communication forms of workplace incivility (Schilpzand et al., 2016). Additional research needs to be completed within this area, especially concentrating on workplace injustice and how managers can respond to instances of victimless workplace incivility in the face of those that abuse or go against the norms or mores of the organization (Odu & Akhigbe, 2018), which this current study is exploring.

# The Management of Human Service Organizations

Human service professionals assist both individuals and communities in functioning effectively by ensuring that members of society hold basic elements of major domains in order to live comfortably (Chenoweth & McAuliffe, 2017). From a historical perspective, the human service field gained popularity in the 1950s and 1960s, where dramatic changes occurred in helping individuals who were in need (Halpern, 2017). Focusing on populations that struggled with low socioeconomic statuses, unemployment, children in need, the elderly, and the disabled, human service workers began working to coordinate different social and rehabilitation services (Neukrug, 21016). Additionally, during this time period, many individuals who were institutionalized were released to the community, due to passing legislation, requiring care as they transitioned back to their society (Slate, 2016). Around this time, many civil rights movements highlighted the need for social justice and issues of equity; therefore, grass roots campaigns were designed to aid in creating opportunities for new approaches to human services (Rosenthal, 2016). Thus, positions were then created for professional and paraprofessionals to provide services for community members in need (Halpern, 2017).

In 1956, the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) provided resources to offer the first educational program that concentrated on human services, training students to appropriately interview, observe, conduct groups, implement treatment plans, and mobilize and utilize community resources in order to work with underserved community members (Higgins, 2017). Today, human service managers develop, guide, and monitor social and community programs aimed at improving the overall quality of life of their

service population (Johnson et al., 2017). To better understand how human service organizations operate, it is essential to engage in a discussion that focuses on the manner in which management operates under the constraints of the organization (Thompson, 2017).

Outside of managing their employees and meeting operational goals and objectives, managers of human service organizations are plagued with ensuring that they are protecting the clients in which they service, as well as ensuring that evidenced-based programs are offered in order to protect instances of social justice and the ability to track the progress of clients that are utilizing their services (Lu, 2015). This presents many challenges in human service organizations, especially for management, as evidenced-based practices appear to be an under-utilized strategy that is used to improve social work practices (Lu, 2015). Nonprofit human service organizations oftentimes experience issues that include capacity limitations, lack of access to research evidence, and instances of funding difficulties (Despard, 2016). This ensures a heavy workload for managers of human service organizations, which can aid in them struggling to oversee other areas of employee management, including that of workplace incivility (Corin & Björk, 2016).

Therefore, researchers have identified specific difficulties that first-level human service managers experience; illuminating severe imbalances in relation to high levels of job demands, lack of job resources, being plagued by work overload, conflicting and unclear goals and tasks, restricted control, and the lack of supervisory and organizational support (Corin & Björk, 2016). This is a major point within this literature review, simply because it provides a robust overview of what human service managers experience when

it comes to employee oversight and management. If managers of human service organizations are restricted in terms of work overload and lack of support, it would be difficult to address employee issues, such as that of workplace incivility (Corin & Björk, 2016). When workplace incivility is experienced within the workplace, it is oftentimes ignored or overlooked by management, making it crucial for employers and organizations to offer specific targeted interventions that can address uncivil workplace behaviors (Chen et al., 2019). Therefore, offering targeted interventions that managers can follow can aid in ensuring that uncivil behavior is appropriately handled, which can lessen the stress; they would be more apt to be supported by the organization and can increase both their stress management and cross-cultural management skills (Chen et al., 2019).

# **Workplace Incivility in Human Service Organizations**

The field of human services allows professionals to deal with individuals in the community that require specialized services to help them complete basic functions within their lives (Higgins, 2017). Therefore, it is important to view workplace incivility amongst human service organizations as there are many stakeholders involved that can be affected by uncivil behaviors (Kabat-Farr et al., 2019). Different stakeholders can include human service organizations, the organizations' managers, the employees and direct-care staff, the clients that are served, and the wider community (Kemeny & Mabry, 2015). Three distinct forms of workplace incivility can be found within organizations, which include: emotional outbursts, fellow coworkers opportunistically and aggressively attempting to advance their personal professional statuses, and the acceleration of the pace of neoliberal reforms of human services offered (Heugten, 2018). This can affect

stakeholders, the services offered to the community, and the organizations' mission statements that employees and managers were operating under (Kemeny & Mabry, 2015).

It is important to understand that more research needs to be completed in this arena, simply because previous research (Itzkovich & Heilbrunn, 2016; Marchiondo et al., 2018; Miner et al., 2018) tends to highlight interpersonal and cyber communication instances of workplace incivility, not being focused on in relation to broader organizational and political dynamics that can sustain workplace incivility. Additionally, workplace incivility and workplace ostracism have significant and negative relationships with turnover intentions (Mahfooz et al., 2017). This highlights an important component in investigating uncivil workplace behaviors, as workplace incivility and workplace ostracism had significant and negative relationships with turnover intentions (Mahfooz et al., 2017). Additionally, burnout can significantly mediate the relationship between turnover intentions and workplace incivility (Hayes et al., 2015; Zhou et al., 2015).

From an organizational perspective, it is important for human service organizations to ensure that they are appropriately monitoring employees and responding appropriately to workplace incivility by creating positive interpersonal relationships and communications between their staff members, increasing positive team functioning, promoting equality between workers, and improving supervisory relationships (Shier et al., 2018). Workplace incivility is strongly related to negative work outcomes, such as that as exhaustion, intentions to terminate employment, and work-related illnesses and stress (Jiménez et al., 2015). This is due to coworker incivility being strongly related to

that of supervisor incivility, and supervisor incivility having negative effects when it came to the environment of the workplace and how employees' dealt with stress and recovery (Jimenez et al., 2015). This demonstrates a need for organizations to properly train managers when it comes to dealing with workplace incivility, as managers can also partake in uncivil behaviors in the workforce, creating turmoil and stress for their employees.

# **Employee Turnover and Human Service Organizations**

Outside of workplace incivility, human service organizations are plagued with high levels of employee turnover, as many workers are exposed to high caseloads, stressful working environment, and long work hours (Willis et al., 2016). It is important to understand employee turnover outside of instances of workplace incivility, as many factors can influence an employee to terminate their employment (Hetschko, 2016). Many studies have been completed that have focused on employee turnover within the human services field, with these studies focusing on the work environment and conditions that human service workers encounter (Cho & Song, 2017; Glisson, 2015; Kim, 2015; McNall et al., 2015; Selden & Sowa, 2015).

Emotional labor increases turnover intention, whereas the construct of trust decreases it (Cho & Song, 2017). This highlights how determinants of turnover intention can affect an organization. Additionally, a workers' autonomy and supervisor support enhance organizational trust amongst employees, as the emotions that are displayed during the duration of the emotional labor is affected by surface acting (Holm et al., 2015). Surface acting, or the faking of emotions is equally important to discuss in relation

to workplace incivility, which occurs when employees did not actually attempt to feel the emotions that they wished to portray purporting the importance of turnover intention behaviors (Cho & Song, 2017). Similarly, the role of an organization's culture and climate is equally important in relation to innovation and employee effectiveness (Glisson, 2015).

Additionally, the efficiency of an organization is an important construct when it comes to employee turnover or their intent to terminate their employment, as the organization will struggle to maintain programs to the community, as they find it more difficult to reach their organizational goals (Al Mamun & Hasan, 2017). Glisson (2015) has purported that it is imperative that human service organizations continue to reach out to better understand employee turnover, as it can be a different experience for each organization. Providing improved supervisor support, manageable caseloads, and the promotion of positive team interactions are just many ways that human service organizations can continue to influence their employees to stay, through increasing employee satisfaction (Griffiths et al., 2019).

Reducing employee turnover is an important goal for human service organizations, simply because money can be saved in the hiring and training process or employees that are replacing outgoing employees, combined with having to work towards team introduction and team building to ensure that programs are continuously run and offered in an appropriate manner to the wider community (Kim, 2015; Miller Jr., 2017; Schilpzand et al., 2016). When bringing aboard a new employee, human service organizations have to understand that there is a period of adjustment that can limit the

achievement towards their organizational goals and the following of their mission statements (Ellis et al., 2017).

It is important to discuss the direct and indirect benefits of employee empowerment in relation to turnover intention, especially in the face of workplace incivility (Kim, 2015). Employee empowerment has a negative effect on turnover intentions and these negative effects are greater when it comes to employees determining whether they will leave the field or transfer to another human service organization (Kim, 2015). Other areas of turnover intention are equally important to discuss in reference to uncivil workplace behaviors. Individuals who were seen as having high positive affectivity, are more likely to experience both work-to-family and family-to-work enrichment, resulting in lower turnover intentions and emotional exhaustion (McNall et al., 2015). It is important to note that although these studies examine turnover intention, Cohen et al. (2016) argued that turnover intention does not necessarily predict actual turnover rates in organizations, as turnover intention and actual turnover rates are calculated using different variables. Therefore, it is important for human service organizations to focus on determining actual turnover rates via demographic information and management practices, versus that of relying on their employees' self-reported feelings of turnover intention (McFadden et al., 2018).

Voluntary turnover in human service organizations can present significant issues at an organizational level, simply because it costs a lot of money, while reducing performance level at both employee and organizational levels (Selden & Sowa, 2015; Schilpzand et al., 2016). When measuring high-performance work practices, it can be

helpful for organizations to align themselves in using variables that include onboarding, leadership development, compensation, and employee relations (Selden & Sowa, 2015). This is because high-performance work practices are associated with lower voluntary turnover, as human service organizations need to invest more time and resources in building their employees up and providing them with education and support to be more successful (Selden & Sowa, 2015).

Other researchers have highlighted how human service organizations and their managers should continue to concentrate on employee turnover, as strategies used to address this can be similar to that of dealing with workplace incivility (Han et al., 2019; Mahfooz et al., 2017; Mathieu, et al., 2016). Managers who have previously identified and utilized person-oriented leadership styles affected turnover intention through increasing job satisfaction and organizational commitment. Similarly, this can be used when dealing with workplace incivility, simply because person-oriented leadership styles are generally flexible in nature and offer stronger communication patterns, relationship building opportunities, and an emphasis on team building (Ting-Toomey & Dorjee, 2018).

# **Employee Turnover and Workplace Incivility**

Workplace incivility is an increasing concern for employers (Porath et al., 2015; Selden & Sowa, 2015) and has the potential to undermine the social framework of a human service organization's work environment (Warrner et al., 2016). This growing issue can lead to increased rates of voluntary employee turnover, which presents significant challenges to sustainability over time (Selden & Sowa, 2015). With critical

humanitarian missions and a prevalence of resource shortages, human service organizations are especially vulnerable to the challenges of recruiting and retaining productive, engaged employees (Renard & Snelgar, 2016; Selden & Sowa, 2015; Shuffler et al., 2018). Researchers have provided guidance and recommendations for strategies and programs employers can utilize to increase organizations' employee retention while helping uncivil employees improve their behaviors and succeed in their job (Beattie & Griffin, 2014; Lee et al., 2016). Employee turnover is very expensive for many reasons (Schilpzand et al., 2016); financial burdens of recruiting, training, providing unemployment benefits, and potential legal actions from terminated employees are all reasons why organizations take termination seriously and work to develop and implement strategies that reduce turnover and avoid termination (Bevan, 2016; Selden & Sowa, 2015). Human resource professionals, managers, and organizational practices play a critical role when addressing uncivil employee behavior (Fox & Cowan, 2017). Researchers have provided guidance and recommendations for strategies and programs employers can utilize to increase organizations' employee retention and to aid uncivil employees in improving their behavior and succeeding in their jobs (Beattie & Griffin, 2014; Lee et al., 2016).

Outside of specific strategies that managers can use when addressing workplace incivility, studies have been completed where researchers have highlighted how coping responses should be explored in relation as to whether victims should confront or avoid bullying behaviors (Hershcovis et al., 2017; Linvill & Connaughton, 2018; Welbourne et al., 2016). Both confrontation and avoidance appear to be ineffective when preventing

workplace incivility, as avoidance can promote an increase of emotional exhaustion while lowering levels of psychological forgiveness, and confrontation can increase uncivil and future targeted behaviors (Hershcovis et al., 2018). While it is essential for managers to utilize effective coping skills to address workplace incivility, not all can see that it is occurring within their departments (Vagharseyyedin, 2015; Sliter et al., 2015). For example, most leaders feel that their departments are civil, yet approximately half of their staff feel the same way (Labun, 2019).

Workplace incivility can cause damaging effects throughout an organization (Zhou et al., 2015); therefore, it is essential to better understand how this construct can operate in relation to employee turnover. Workplace incivility can influence employee turnover, making this a critical issue for organizations to address (Sguera et al., 2016). Any relationships that exist between workplace incivility, job burnout, turnover intentions, and job performance is important to examine, as job burnout mediates the relationship between workplace incivility and turnover intention; whereas, workplace incivility can also be negatively associated with job performance (Rahim & Cosby, 2016).

## **Emotional Intelligence**

Emotional intelligence, defined by Chen and Wang (2019) as a concept where one has the ability to be aware of, control, and express one's emotion, can also play a role when it comes to discussing workplace incivility and turnover intentions. There appear to be strong relationships between workplace incivility, job satisfaction, and turnover intention, with the moderating effect of emotional intelligence playing a role between

instances of workplace incivility and job satisfaction (Chen et al., 2019). Workplace incivility and turnover attention does not just run through human service organizations but appears to emerge through a variety of industries and disciplines, as mentioned such as restaurants, businesses, and other ventures (Vardi & Weitz, 2016). However, outside of the social work field, workplace incivility and turnover intention has also been examined in the nursing and medical fields (Fida et al., 2018; Laschinger et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2018; McPherson & Buxton, 2019).

Nurses have encountered many instances of workplace incivility, with a strong argument that highlighted how nurses can experience devastating consequences in both their professional and personal lives if workplace incivility remains unaddressed (McPherson & Buxton, 2019). Increased communications, aware managers or supervisors, and education classes are important for nurses to be able to address this issue, even with learning skillsets on how to handle workplace incivility from individuals who work above them, such as senior nurses, doctors, and hospital administrators (Johansen & Cadmus, 2016). As compared to other disciplines, nurses do work longer hours and work within heavy caseloads, which place strains on their employment, leading to potential instances of turnover intention (Martin-Misener et al., 2016). Again, organizations should work at training employees and managers on how to identify workplace incivility among the three areas previously discussed; interpersonal communications, technological communications, and victimless instances of workplace incivility (De Clercq et al., 2018).

# **Strategies for Addressing Workplace Incivility**

There are many steps when it comes to addressing workplace incivility, which can include managers being familiar with the policies and procedures for dealing with uncivil behaviors, so it is paramount for managers to review institutional policies that discuss bias, harassment, and retaliation (Hoffman & Chunta, 2015). Other ways that managers can address workplace incivility include setting clear expectations with staff members before any incidents occur, model behaviors that they would like to see in the workplace, and promote open communication where employees can openly discuss their feelings without retribution (Abdollahzadeh et al., 2017). It is important to note that although researchers have discussed ways in which managers can address workplace incivility, I have found little to no studies that focus on the successful strategies that managers in the human services field use when experiencing these problematic behaviors.

Researchers have provided guidance and recommendations for strategies and programs employers can utilize to increase organizations' employee retention while helping uncivil employees improve their behaviors and succeed in their job (Beattie & Griffin, 2014; Evans, 2017; Ibrahim & Qalawa, 2016; Lee et al., 2016; Shin & Hur, 2019). These strategies have included employee education programs (Evans, 2017), cognitive reframing exercises (Shin & Hur, 2019), and assertive communication skills training (Ibrahim & Qalawa, 2016); yet, little to no studies have been completed by researchers that have addressed how successful such responsive strategies are, especially within the human services field.

Although many studies have been completed that discuss effective strategies that have been used to address uncivil behaviors and workplace incivility (Clark & Gorton, 2019; Fida et al., 2018; Green, 2018), little to no research addresses the human services field and how managers in this field have successfully addressed this important phenomenon. Researchers St. Pierre (2019) and Martinez and Eisenberg (2019) discussed two ways in which workplace incivility can be addressed; directly from the employees that experience uncivil behaviors (St. Pierre, 2019) and those that stem from a managers reaction on how to address this from an organizational perspective (Martinez & Eisenberg, 2019). Within the nursing field, nurses have previously identified many challenges when it came to addressing workplace incivility, which includes communication challenges during the hand-off report and confusion and incomplete patient assessment information, drawing the importance of how workplace incivility can affect other stakeholders as previously discussed (Clark et al., 2017). It was recommended by the authors that nurses complete improved training programs that can aid them in identifying uncivil behaviors, as well as not attempting to solve this problem on their own- instead, reaching out to a supervisor for assistance, as patient safety is being jeopardized during the time of said experience of workplace incivility (Clark et al., 2017).

Confrontation is a strategy that can be used when addressing workplace incivility and has been studied by many researchers including Hershcovis et al. (2018) and St. Pierre (2019). By studying the effects of both confrontation and avoidance to address uncivil behavior, managers can also have a better understanding of how employees can

be affected. Confrontation and avoidance appear ineffective when it comes to addressing uncivil behaviors and workplace incivility, leading to an important understanding of how human service organizations must react and respond (Jung, & Yoon, 2018). This is because avoidance can lead to greater experiences of emotional exhaustion; however, confrontation has promise to elicit positive outcomes, including that of psychological forgiveness (Jung, & Yoon, 2018). Therefore, human service organizations must have set directives for managers on how to appropriate deal with this through their policies and procedures to ensure that it is in alignment with the mission of the organization (Hershcovis et al., 2018).

Other work disciplines create a zero-tolerance policy when it comes to uncivil behavior, as identified by Hoffman and Chunta (2015) in the nursing field. Workplace incivility can be devastating in the nursing field to both staff and patients; therefore, it is essential to create a zero-tolerance policy (Hoffman & Chunta, 2015). Additionally, training programs should be provided to employees so that they are aware of the standards of civil behavior found in organizations; therefore, when addressing or implementing a zero-tolerance policy it can be easily stated that the said employee was trained and understood the impact of uncivil behaviors (Denhardt et al., 2018). With the addition of continuous emerging technologies, it is important to guide staff training sessions towards that of the three components where workplace incivility can be found; through interpersonal communication, technological communication, and victimless instances of uncivil behavior (Schilpzand et al., 2016).

Clark (2019) discussed ways in which workplace incivility could be addressed in the nursing field, by completing research that focused on using cognitive rehearsal, simulation, and evidenced-based scripting. Individuals who completed a training program on how to effectively deal with workplace incivility appeared more confident in addressing issues in order to limit patient and patient safety (Clark, 2019). This is an important study that can be examined throughout different working environments, including that of the human services field, simply because by providing training allows managers to appropriately identify and respond to instance of workplace incivility, while allowing teams to appropriate build healthy communication patterns by stating any issues that they experience that may make them uncomfortable (Hershcovis et al., 2018).

Naturally, more research needs to be completed within this area, simply because the results of this study are limited to that of nursing staff.

Other studies have been completed that have addressed how managers should respond to workplace incivility in relation to retention efforts (Fida et al., 2018; Hur et al., 2016; Schenck, 2017). In order to effectively address workplace incivility, it is important for managers to continuously communicate and enforce policies, using one-on-one communication techniques between managers and employees, and addressing any key barriers in the workforce such as issues of resistance to change (Schenck, 2017). These strategies can be effective when reducing turnover or an employee's intention to terminate their employment, as it creates a strong communication pathway with clear support from supervisors, as well as working on issues such as that as intrinsic and extrinsic motivation levels (Schenck, 2017). Similarly, managers should initiate difficult

yet important conversations that address disruptive behaviors, as well as encouraging employees to build healthy communication and interpersonal skills with both key coworkers and the team as a whole (Kennison & Dzurec, 2017).

Kisner (2018) researched how to protect staff from instances of workplace incivility and found that taking specific steps can aid in not only effectively addressing uncivil behaviors, but also decreasing the exposure of workplace incivility to staff. The author reported that it is essential to follow specific steps when addressing this phenomenon:

- Organizations need to immediately implement a zero-tolerance policy for workplace incivility;
- 2. Uncivil behaviors should be clearly outlined in employee manuals and organizational policy and procedure manuals;
- 3. Inform all staff that workplace incivility will not be tolerated and what consequences will follow if it is completed;
- 4. Staff development training programs need to be designed and implemented that focus on uncivil behaviors and workplace incivility;
- Educational components and staff training programs need to encompass a variety
  of topics that include improving communication skills, challenging perpetrators,
  and using silence to promote thinking;
- 6. Facilities and organization should hold regular team building activities, where staff get to interact with each other in a positive environment;

7. Team building activities should also promote role-playing activities where employees are taught appropriate ways to address workplace incivility and uncivil behaviors with peers, coworkers, and managers (Kisner, 2018).

The author also reported that it is essential that individuals who are reporting workplace incivility should use I statements as a part of assertive communication practices (Kisner, 2018). Mediated conversations can also be helpful, as it allows employees to feel supported and safe while confronting these uncomfortable behaviors (Rosenberg & Chopra, 2015).

In relation to other instances of how workplace incivility should be handled,
Hutchinson and Jackson (2013) also identified three steps that managers can use when
addressing workplace incivility. As a similarity they recommended:

- Managers should provide individual support, education, and mediation between the perpetrator and the target;
- 2. Managers should ensure that appropriate disciplinary action is taken against the perpetrator that is in alignment with the organization's mission statement and policy and procedures concerning workplace incivility;
- 3. Enforcing policies and procedures to deal with workplace bullying;
- 4. Managers should facilitate social interactions and workplace interventions that support the collective group of building and maintaining a safe and supportive work culture (Hutchinson & Jackson, 2013).

It is also important to address the variety of uncivil behaviors that can occur between the key players of an organization (Walsh et al., 2018). For example, employee to employee instances of incivility are the most common, whereas other instances can occur between client to employee, administrator to employee, and manager to employee (Torres et al., 2017). In terms of addressing these other instances of workplace incivility, it is imperative that organizations set up ways to address uncivil behavior, whereas the perpetrator does not directly address the situation with the victim (Moisuc & Brauer, 2019). For example, if a manager is participating in instances of workplace uncivil behaviors, then there should be a different manager that can take care of the issue for the comfort of the victim (Moisuc & Brauer, 2019). This, alongside with the building of a positive culture can aid in assisting employees through the journey of workplace incivility (Moisuc & Brauer, 2019). Additionally, creating a culture where open and assertive communication is valued also aids in individuals talking and discussing their experiences, and feeling comfortable to assertively discuss their feelings with other individuals in the organization (Dainton & Zelley, 2017).

Employees, managers, and other workers should be taught how to identify disruptive behaviors that are interpersonal, technological and victimless (Novak, 2018). Many times, there are victimless instances of uncivil behavior, and, going unaddressed, they will continue to spiral into more serious offences (Bar-David, 2015). Therefore, teaching employees how to identify all varieties of workplace incivility can aid in stopping these disruptive behaviors company-wide (King, 2019).

Although many strategies have been highlighted in research, Logan et al. (2017) reported that evidenced-based strategies that address workplace incivility are severely lacking. In order to ensure that evidenced-based practices exist, it is important to continue research in the field that can aid in ensuring that strategies used are effective, if not for the safety and comfort of the employees, but also for that of the survival of the organization (Fombelle et al., 2019). It should be noted that the majority of studies that focus on nursing and healthcare organizations do so, because there is a gap in the literature that highlights effective strategies of human service organizations. This current study aims at filling this gap, so it can be determined how effective these strategies could be in relation to the literature that has been discussed in this chapter.

## **Summary and Conclusions**

The purpose of this generic qualitative study is to understand successful strategies that first-level human service managers utilize when addressing workplace incivility.

This chapter provided an overview on the academic research conducted on this topic.

First, a brief discussion of the literature review search process was explained, followed by an articulation of the overarching theoretical framework that guided this study, which is the Incivility spiral theory. An understanding of the historical origins of work and related workplace problems were introduced in the literature review, followed by an analysis of both historical and recent aspects of workplace incivility, human service organizations, employee turnover, and strategies that focused on dealing with problematic behaviors. Management personnel were also discussed in this review, while it was important to highlight ways in which they approached and dealt with instances of

workplace incivility between their employees. The purpose of this literature review was to highlight the gap that ensures the need for this study.

The United States has seen a major change of work environments over the past two centuries, therefore, it was important to understand how the concept and condition of work has changed over time, as America has moved through a variety of work-related stages that include transitioning from an agrarian society to that of the industrial revolution (Landy & Conte, 2016). This discussion highlighted how working conditions have changed and how America has entered a third or fourth levels of the industrial revolution that is separate to that of the others; a digital revolution, which can bring upon a higher level of issues in relation to workplace incivility (Griffin, 2017; Labor, 1990). An example of that was highlighted when three constructs of workplace incivility discussed; interpersonal communications (Reich & Hershcovis, 2015), technological communications (De Clercq et al., 2018), and victimless instances of uncivil behavior (Schilpzand et al., 2016), all of which are important to address.

Researchers had defined workplace incivility as deviant behaviors that occurred in small, reoccurring frequencies with varying intent to do harm; which violates workplace behavioral norms of respect and civility (Fox & Cowan, 2017; Holm et al., 2015). This form of behavior is a severe form of workplace bullying (Hershcovis et al., 2018), as common themes in defining this form of workplace behavior included repeated and variable frequencies of unethical behavior towards a coworker or supervisor, rude, sarcastic, humiliating, and offensive treatment in the workplace, creating an unpleasant work environment that negatively effects employees' work performance, and/or

intentionally overworking an employee (Perez, 2017; Rockett et al., 2017). Researchers explained that uncivil or negative employees tended to place the majority of the power for change at the top, or in the hands of supervisors and attributes the negative behavior to an employees need for information or resources (Holm et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2016; Petrou et al., 2016).

It was also important to discuss workplace incivility in relation to that of employee turnover intentions, as human service organizations already deal with increasing turnover due to long-work hours, stressful work environments, and high caseloads (Willis et al., 2016). Therefore, workplace incivility is an increasing concern for employers (Porath et al., 2015; Selden & Sowa, 2015) and has the potential to undermine the social framework of a human service organization's work environment (Warrner et al., 2016). Therefore, it was essential for a strong discussion that focused on how this growing issue can lead to increased rates of voluntary employee turnover, which presents significant challenges to sustainability over time (Selden & Sowa, 2015). With critical humanitarian missions and a prevalence of resource shortages, human service organizations are especially vulnerable to the challenges of recruiting and retaining productive, engaged employees (Renard & Snelgar, 2016; Selden & Sowa, 2015; Shuffler et al., 2018).

There are many first steps that must be discussed when it comes to addressing workplace incivility and can include managers being familiar with the policies and procedures for dealing with uncivil behaviors (Hoffman & Chunta, 2015), so it is paramount for managers to review institutional policies that discuss bias, harassment, and

retaliation (Hoffman & Chunta, 2015). Other ways that managers can address workplace incivility include setting clear expectations with staff members before any incidents occur, model behaviors that they would like to see in the workplace and promote open communication where employees can openly discuss their feelings without retribution (Abdollahzadeh et al., 2017).

Researchers have provided guidance and recommendations for strategies and programs employers can utilize to increase organizations' employee retention while helping uncivil employees improve their behaviors and succeed in their job (Beattie & Griffin, 2014; Lee et al., 2016). However, a gap exists in the literature that examines the success of strategies employers utilize to address workplace incivility. This study will examine the successful strategies used by employers to address workplace incivility. The next chapter in this dissertation is that of Chapter 3 that provides a strong overview on this study's methodology. Within this chapter, I will provide a robust organization of the research's methodology, including a discussion on the appropriateness of the methodology and research design, an overview of the population and sampling procedures, the instruments used to collect data, data collection procedures, data analysis plan, they study's assumptions, and ethical assurances.

### Chapter 3: Research Method

Employers are increasingly concerned about workplace incivility as it has the potential to undermine the social framework of a human service organizations work environment, while also negatively affecting turnover and retention rates. Therefore, the purpose of this generic qualitative study is to understand successful strategies that first-level human service managers utilize when addressing workplace incivility that aid in reducing turnover. This chapter will provide a thorough overview of this study's methodology, highlighting the research questions and discussing the specific research design and rationale that will be followed. The chapter will then discuss the study's population and sampling procedures, data collection methods, and the study's procedures. The chapter will then conclude with a discussion of the data analysis plan and ethical assurances that will aid in protecting human participants.

#### **Research Design and Rationale**

This study will follow a qualitative methodology in order to explore successful strategies that first-level human service managers utilize when addressing workplace incivility that aids in reducing turnover. A qualitative methodology is considered a process of naturalistic inquiry that explores an in-depth phenomenon within a natural setting (Glesne, 2016). Offering a variety of data collection methods, researchers can use semi-structured interviews in order to explore participants' perceptions and experiences regarding a topic (Silverman, 2016). Alternatively, a quantitative methodology was considered in order to complete this research. However, this approach was ultimately rejected due to the deductive logic nature of quantitative research, and investigating a

research problem using numerical data, which can be analyzed in a statistical or mathematical fashion (Wrench, 2017). Quantitative research proposes specific hypotheses that will either be supported or rejected due to the results of the statistical analysis (Gilbert & Calhoun, 2019). Therefore, because this current study aims to understand specific strategies that human service managers utilize to address workplace incivility, a quantitative methodology would not be appropriate. Using a qualitative methodology will allow me to explore this phenomenon while allowing participants to answer open-ended questions in their own words and meanings.

This study will follow a generic qualitative approach, which seeks to understand what participants experience as reported by their own personal descriptions (Kahlke, 2018). It is important to note that generic qualitative approaches can draw on the strengths of one or more qualitative research designs, while not claiming full allegiance to a single established methodology. This allows for a researcher to be more flexible in their approach to a phenomenon (Percy et al., 2015).

Other researcher designs were considered but ultimately rejected such as that of grounded theory and ethnography. Grounded theory is a qualitative research design that uses the data that is gathered from participants in order to develop a theory (Morse et al., 2016). Since this current study is being guided by the Incivility spiral theory, grounded theory would not be beneficial and was ultimately rejected. Additionally, ethnography involves the exploration of the network of social gatherings, groupings, customs, and behaviors, mainly through the use of researcher observation (Atkinson, 2016). Because this current study is focusing on the human service managers and successful strategies

that they use, ethnography's goals would not be in alignment with the current unit of analysis, allowing me to reject this research design.

#### Methodology

#### **Research Questions**

This study will be guided by the following research questions:

**RQ1:** How do first-level human service managers describe employee turnover in relation to workplace incivility?

**RQ2:** What successful strategies do first-level human service managers utilize to address workplace incivility?

# **Population and Sample**

I will utilize a purposive sampling method in order to recruit participants for her study. A purposive theoretical sampling method allows me to recruit participants from a group of individuals that are selected based upon my own judgment (Etikan, et al., 2016). Purposive sampling is a form of nonprobability sampling, as I will ensure that participants are recruited based upon specific criteria that aid in answering the posed research questions. A snowball sampling method will additionally be used, where I will ask any current participants to recommend colleagues that may meet the study's procedure (Etikan et al., 2016). I am aiming to recruit 10 to 15 participants who are members of the professional network site, LinkedIn. The final number of participants will be determined by data saturation, which occurs when I experience redundancies and repetitiveness when completing the semi-structured interviews, causing me to cease data collection (Ness, 2015).

In order to participate in this research, prospective participants must meet the following eligibility criteria:

- Each participant must currently hold a job title as a first-level human service manager.
- 2. Each participant must currently be employed by a human services organization. In this study, a human services organization is defined as an organization that provides basic human need support services to individuals (Archer, 2017).
- 3. Each participant must have been working in their position for a period of a minimum of one year.
- 4. Each participant must have experience with a human resources referral for a problem employee.

I will collect the data using semistructured interviews, where I will ask each of the participants the same 10 to 15 open-ended questions. Ensuring that each participant meets the eligibility criteria will strengthen reliability of the study as they will have the experience and qualifications to answer the interview questions as they see fit.

### **Data Collection Methods**

Semistructured interviews allow the participants to openly discuss the phenomenon being explored as they are able to answer the open-ended questions as they see fit, according to their perceptions and experiences (Kallio et al., 2016). Each interview will be conducted over a one hour Zoom video conferencing call, with me personally video conferencing with each participant at a time that is convenient for them. Only I will have access to each participant's contact phone number, email address, and

other identifiable information. Conducting the semistructured interviews over video conferencing can allow me to obtain a sample that is more geographically diverse and allow for the collection of data pertaining to the participants no verbal communication. Additionally, each of the interviews will be electronically recorded and then transcribed in preparation for data analysis.

When designing the semistructured interview questions, I will follow an interview protocol. I will recruit a doctoral student colleague and request that they review the study's purpose statement, the research question, the methodology, and the list of 10 to 15 interview questions to ensure they are in alignment. After receiving feedback from my colleague, I will review the information with my chair and realign and adjust the interview questions accordingly (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). The doctoral student colleague who participates in the creation of the interview protocol will also be requested to complete a peer review of the study's findings. During this peer review, my doctoral student colleague will review the findings in conjunction with the interview transcripts to ensure that there is limited bias. I will also complete member checking. Member checking occurs when the I conduct a follow-up interview after the initial interview has been transcribed. During member checking, I will email a copy of the interview's transcript to each participant and then contact them via telephone where they can review the transcript together (Birt et al., 2016). During member checking, the participants will be able to review the transcript and recommend any changes that they feel may need to be made. Member checking interviews will take approximately 15 minutes.

# **Study Procedures**

Before collecting the data, I will receive approval from both the Institutional Review Board (IRB) (see Appendix A). After receiving IRB approval, I will then begin recruiting participants via the social media site, LinkedIn. When contacting potential participants, I will complete a search on LinkedIn to find individuals that may possibly meet the study's criteria. In order to participate in this study, each participant must be currently employed at a human services organization, must hold a job title as a first-level manager, and must have had a referral from their human resources department to work with an identified problem employee. In the recruitment email, I will explain the purpose of her study, along with an outline of the study's problem, and participation criteria (see Appendix C).

I will recruit individuals on a first-come first-served basis until I have reached the 10 to 15 participants required for this study. The final number of participants will be determined by data saturation, which will occur when I experience redundancies and repetitiveness when completing the semi-structured interviews, causing me to cease data collection (Ness, 2015). After I have accepted each participant into the study, I will send them a copy of the consent form (see Appendix B), that highlights the study's requirements, level of risk, expectations of the participants, and confidentiality. It is important to note that the level of risk in this study is considered low. Each participant will be required to sign a hard copy of the consent form and return it to me, at which time she will schedule a one-on-one private interview. In order to obtain participant consent, I will email a copy of the consent form to each participant, who will then sign the

document with ink, scan the document, and then return it to the me. One-on-one private interviews will be scheduled, when I call individuals to invite them to participate in the study, as well as me being available to answer any questions after potential participants have reviewed the consent form. When meeting with each of the participants for their private semi-structured interview via video conferencing, I will follow the interview guide and ask each participant the same 10 to 15 open-ended questions. Each interview will be conducted via Zoom video conferencing and I will ensure that confidentiality is supported, by asking the participant to locate themselves in a private space, close any open doors, and to use a headphone device, rather than external speakers. I will also electronically record and transcribe each interview, in preparation for data analysis, where the participants will be notified before beginning the interview.

After each interview has been completed and I have finished transcription, I will email a .pdf copy of each participants transcript to the participant for them to review the transcripts of their interview through member checking. Member checking will occur when each participant reviews their transcript and provides feedback to me informing me of whether the transcripts are reliable and represent the participants' feedback in full. If the participants recommend any changes to their transcripts, I will consult with my chair and make any necessary adjustments.

## **Data Analysis**

Data will be analyzed using NVivo 12.0, a qualitative software program that is used at the majority of research universities. When using NVivo, I will place the transcribed data into the software program where the information will then be coded in

order to explore any emerging themes. I will also use a qualitative codebook during the analysis, which aids in coding the data, highlighting emerging themes, and substantiating each theme in a document with participants' quotations that support each theme.

Because I am following a generic qualitative study, I will follow a general inductive analysis, ensuring that I am guided by the following steps:

- 1. Prepare raw data files.
- 2. Become familiar with the text (transcripts).
- 3. Begin coding by creating different categories.
- 4. Overlap coding and uncoded text.
- 5. Continue revising and refining the different categories.
- 6. Highlight themes that have emerged from the coding procedure (Creswell & Creswell, 2017).

#### **Ethical Assurances**

It is important for me to provide specific ethical assurances in order to protect the human participants who are partaking in this research. For example, before beginning the study, I will obtain approval from my university's Institutional Review Board (IRB). Additionally, each participant must review, agree to, and sign the consent form, which highlights the purpose of the study, the study's aims, the level of risk, what is expected of the participants, and how confidentiality will be maintained. Additionally, each consent form will inform the participant that they can remove themselves from the study at any time without any repercussions. This study involves little to no risk, as the participants

are discussing strategies that they have used that successfully deals with workplace incivility.

Confidentiality will also be maintained throughout the study as I will refer to participants in a numerical order (e.g., Participant 1, Participant 2, etc.), as well as referring to their place of employment in alphabetical order (e.g., Company A, Company B, etc.). Participants will never be referred to in the study using their personal names, especially during data collection and transcription. I will also ensure that all written and electronic documents are stored appropriately. For example, all electronic data will be stored in a password-protected file that only I have access to. Additionally, I will store all physical paper copies in a locked filing cabinet located inside the office of my personal residence. I will also destroy both electronic information and paper documents five years after the study's completion, which is recommended by my university's Institutional Review Board.

### Summary

The purpose of this generic qualitative study is to understand successful strategies first-level human service managers utilize when addressing workplace incivility that aids in reducing turnover. This chapter provided a thorough overview of this study's methodology, highlighting the research questions and discussing the specific research design and rationale that will be followed. The chapter then discussed the study's population and sampling procedures, data collection methods, and the study's procedures. The chapter then concluded with a discussion of the data analysis plan and ethical assurances that will aid in protecting human participants. The next chapter is that of

Chapter 4, which will provide an overview of the study's results after the data analysis has been completed.

## Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this generic qualitative study was to understand the successful strategies that first-level human service managers utilize when addressing workplace incivility for the purpose of reducing turnover. The following research questions were developed to guide this study:

**RQ1:** How do first-level human service managers describe employee turnover in relation to workplace incivility?

**RQ2:** What successful strategies do first-level human service managers utilize to address workplace incivility?

In Chapter 4, I outline the qualitative research methodology used and provide an understanding of the data collection method used that examined the research questions. I provide the demographic of each participant and reveal the findings generated by themes that have emerged through analyzing the individual interviews and the personal experiences and viewpoints shared by each participant. Lastly, I will provide an examination of the data that is introduced in the chapter.

### Setting

I received approval from Walden University IRB to begin conducting data collection for this research study on May 14, 2020 (IRB Approval # 05-14-20-0651246). Participants for this study were recruited via LinkedIn and Facebook. All participants electronically provided informed consent and agreed to their interview being recorded. Each interview included a one on one, face to face video meeting via Zoom video conferencing software. Each participant was asked 7 demographic questions and 11 semi-

structured interview questions. Interview video and audio was recorded. Each of the interviews lasted between 30 and 45 minutes.

## **Data Analysis**

All interview video recordings were stored in a secure, password protected Google Drive account. Each interview was transcribed using a downloaded transcription software. Prior to conducting data analysis, each participant was emailed a copy of the transcript from their interview to ensure accuracy and representation. All participants agreed. NVivo qualitative data analysis software was used for coding the transcript data and to aid in theme development. Frequently used phrases and words were identified using word clouds in NVivo. I conducted a second round of data analysis to gain a more in depth understanding of the emergent themes. Lastly, all interview transcripts were reviewed again to ensure accurate coding.

## **Data Collection**

There were a total of 10 participants who completed the interview process. Each video interview was scheduled for 1 hour and lasted between 30 and 45 minutes and a conversational interview style was used. Eight participants completed the interview from home and two participants completed the interviews while driving. Several participants verbally expressed their interest in the topic and asked to receive a copy of the completed research study publication. All participants met the following criteria to be included in this study:

 Each participant currently held a job title as a first-level or higher human service manager.

- 2. Each participant was currently employed by a human services organization.
- 3. Each participant had been working in their position for a minimum of one year.
- 4. Each participant had experience with a human resources referral for a problem employee.

Each participant responded to a post on LinkedIn and Facebook soliciting for participants, who met the previously identified inclusion criteria. Each respondent agreed to participate in a recorded video interview to share their experiences; however, two participants completed the interview via Zoom audio recorded phone call. All participants were sent a link to my schedule of availability for an interview and, upon registering for a date and time, were redirected to the informed consent form where they were provided with the IRB approved consent form and asked to enter their first and last name in the form to consent. All participants completed the consent form and noted no questions or concerns regarding their participation.

## Credibility

Roulston and Shelton (2015) explained that qualitative research has the potential for the researcher to inject their personal opinion. Injecting personal opinions into research may lead to a deficit in the data; therefore, the author further explained that a researcher could avoid bias by remaining neutral, objective, and impartial during the research process (Roulston & Shelton, 2015). To reduce the likelihood that this bias could occur, I used member checking where all participants were provided with a copy of the transcript from their interview and asked to review the transcript to ensure their

words were accurately portrayed. All of the participants agreed that the transcript they received was an accurate representation and had no changes to their transcript.

# **Transferability**

In this study, transferability was accounted for as I was able to highlight a strong and narrow description of the phenomenon being explored (Connelly, 2016). Therefore, I was able to illuminate shared themes in experiences of successful strategies that first-level human service managers utilize when addressing workplace incivility, in an effort to address the documented problem of high employment turnover rates among nonprofit, human service organizations (Selden, 2015; Walsh, 2014). The illumination of shared themes and experiences occurred by providing in-depth, first-hand accounts of experiences from participants, which may be replicated by another researcher to attain similar results with the same inclusion criteria.

## **Dependability**

All of the interview questions used in this study were approved by the Walden University Institutional Review Board. The questions were relevant to the research study and participants responses were both visual and audio recorded to allow for a dependable and accurate recount of the data to avoid any of my inferred perceptions of their comments and responses. Zoom video conferencing was used to record the video and audio for each interview.

# **Confirmability**

Using NVivo qualitative data analysis software helped me to discover meaningful insights from my qualitative data and helped to support a high-level confirmability. I

initially used Descript, a transcription software, to automate the transcribing process of my interview. I then listened to the interview audio recording while thoroughly reviewing the transcription and made any necessary adjustments to words that were incorrectly transcribed by the software. I completed this process of listening and reviewing the transcript twice for each interview. Using NVivo, I coded each transcript to identify common terms such as *incivility* or *strategy*, I then hand coded all of the transcripts dividing the data into the two main categories of uncivil behaviors and successful strategies. Once I established the two main categories, I coded the transcripts further to discover emerging themes in each of the categories.

# **Demographic Information**

In Table 1, I identify demographic information for the study participants. I interviewed a total of ten participants for my research study. All of the participants needed to meet the inclusion criteria to be included in my research study. Each participant self-identified as working for a nonprofit, human services organization. Several participants currently hold a position that is higher than a first-level manager. However, these participants were able to provide responses based on their time and experiences as a first-level manager. All of the participants reported having had an employee with uncivil behaviors and successfully using a strategy to help them address these behaviors. Additionally, each participant defined their meaning of *uncivil* and *successful*. Participant ranged in age from 32 to 67 years old. Their years of experience as a manager ranged from 7 to 35 years of experience. Participants represented diverse

geographic locations, including Texas, Illinois, Connecticut, Nevada, Massachusetts, Washington, and Florida.

Table 1

Participant Demographics

						Years of
						<u>Management</u>
	<u>Gender</u>	<u>Age</u>	Race	<u>State</u>	Job Level	<b>Experience</b>
			Native		Chief Executive	_
P1	M	48	American	TX	Officer	16
					Shelter	
					Coordinator	
					Advocate	
P2	F	44	White	IL	Supervisor	11
					<b>External Relations</b>	
P3	F	39	White	CT	Officer	21
					Operations	_
P4	F	32	White	CT	Director	8
P5	F	35	White	NV	Office Manager	7
					Human Service	
P6	F	43	White	MA	Counselor	25
					Chief Executive	
P7	F	67	White	CT	Officer	35
P8	M	48	While	WA	Project Manager	21
P9	F	46	Asian	TX	Finance Manager	20
					Operations	
P10	F	38	Black	FL	Manager	15

# **Analysis**

This thematic analysis was guided by two research questions that will be discussed below, in addition to highlighting the themes that emerged from the dataset and the codes that substantiated each theme.

**RQ1:** How do first-level human service managers describe employee turnover in relation to workplace incivility?

One theme emerged from the dataset in relation to research question one: defining workplace incivility is broad but understood and good employees are lost due to workplace incivility. Each of the themes will be discussed below and will be demonstrated by participants' quotations that supports each theme.

Losing good employees due to workplace incivility. The first theme that emerged from the dataset for the first research question highlighted that the participants perceived that good employees were lost due to workplace incivility. Eight out of the ten participants stated that workplace incivility affected turnover as good employees were typically the first to leave the organization. This was evident when P1 discussed that the victim of workplace incivility typically asks to either be moved to a different department or will resign their position. P1 stated:

It depends on who they're working with. So if they're working with that particular girl, um, generally they'll come to me and ask, to just change shifts. So they'll want to work with someone else. And I oblige, cause I know what it's like. Um,

P2 was able to discuss how employees who are victims of workplace incivility are unable to do their job because they are concerned with workplace conflict. P2 reported:

So I think, yeah, it affects, we've had a few people quit because of it (P1).

I've seen people leave because they hate a coworker that they can't get along with someone, which obviously has a negative impact on an organization overall. I have seen people paralyzed in their ability to do the job because they're just worried about their conflict with somebody which has led to a lack of productivity. You know, kind of, kind of the full spectrum there in terms of, of

impact stress and anxiety, which contributes to medical leaves, you know, I've seen it all (P2).

P4 was able to discuss the upper management response to workplace incivility, which they reported can make things worse in regards to the team. P4 stated:

I mean we have management that is not in the fields not doing the work not in the thick of it...So they come in. Like a frigging bat out of hell just trying to tell us how to do our jobs...It makes people feel unappreciated, unworthy, attacked. And when someone feels that way they have no desire to do a good job. So it affects turnover because they're either going to stop giving a crap and not do a good job because they don't feel like it's appreciated anyway. Or they're going to continue to do things the way that they think that they need to be done...And you'll have one of two results...you're going to let them go or they're going to quit (P4).

P5 discussed how low morale and a toxic workplace increases turnover from the good employees:

A hostile work environment impart management is the number one reason why people leave jobs. You will lose good employees because of poor managers. I've seen it a million times. And if you don't have turnover, you're going to have poor morale, big time creating a hostile work environment. Having coachable employees or creating that uncivil work environment is going to every is, will equal either low morale or turning. You're not going to keep good people. So your cost of onboarding people and bringing people in is going to be through the roof and you're not going to have good quality employees (P5).

P8 highlighted how good employees are the first to leave their position, which in turn can affect the entire organization across the board. P8 stated:

Being treated like garbage where you work really takes a toll on you. When nothing happens to the person treating people like garbage it makes the other employees feel unappreciated, attacked and unworthy and when someone feels that way they have no desire to do a good job, so that effects turnover because they don't feel like they're appreciated anyway and they stay, don't do a good job and get fired or they just quit. Work and the quality of work really suffers across the organization (P8).

Finally, P10 discussed how work quality and turnover can be affected:

Well it definitely affects work quality, but people don't just leave good jobs it's important to know your team and have an awareness of what is going on, who people are, and how they are being treated (P10).

# RQ2: What successful strategies do first-level human service managers utilize to address workplace incivility?

Two themes emerged from the dataset in relation to research question two: Theme two included confronting and documenting uncivil behaviors is a common workplace strategy of first-level and higher managers. Theme three includes using real-life experiences, professional development, and modeling former managers assist first-level managers in dealing with workplace incivility. Each of the themes will be discussed below and will by demonstrated by participants' quotations that supports each theme.

**Confronting and documenting uncivil behaviors.** The third theme that emerged from the dataset for the second research question highlighted that the participants

perceived that confronting and documenting uncivil behaviors are the most successful strategies used when dealing with workplace incivility. All of the participants of the study contributed to this theme. When it came to successful strategies that first-level managers used when dealing with uncivil behaviors in the workplace, all of the participants were able to discuss how they confront and document behaviors. This was evident when P1 stated:

We put them on a work plan, which is basically breaking down what the issue is and what we can do to help them figure it out (P1).

P2 was able to discuss how they call out the behavior and make people accountable for their actions. They reported:

I think the most important thing that I have done or most useful thing I've done as a manager is calling out the behavior and holding people accountable. I think when, when you confront somebody one on one, so I have a. Personal belief that all people are good (P2).

P3 reported that they confront uncivil behaviors by having "to go through the methodical process of writing somebody up and having monthly quarterly and yearly reviews". P4 was able to discuss confronting and a methodological process as they stated:

I created a spreadsheet for her so that she could track everything that she was doing because she was a very get things done kind of personality. And I had to reel her back in and tell her like I appreciate your ability to be a go getter but you're overlooking. Step C D and E from a to F you know so she would just want

to go straight to it and just get it done. And I would have to reel her back in and say we're not on a time constraint here (P4).

Confronting, coaching, and educating employees is how P5 identified successful strategies. They reported:

So I think what helped that person, um, that gentleman in particular was just coaching him and educating him and helping him understand. So we're fortunate that this person was coachable. Um, if it had been an individual that hadn't been coachable from an HR perspective, like you can't, slanderize your supervisor or anybody that you work with. So we would have had to, you know, set guidelines for him and metrics. And if he wasn't able to, you know, to turn his behavior around, he could have been on grounds for termination, but this person was coachable (P5).

P6 was able to provide an example of how they confront uncivil behaviors as they reported:

I had one female employee who was always talking down about other people. I kind of sat with them and talked through Hey you know this person is saying this and is it true? You know if it's not true. And even if it is how would you feel? You know if this was being said about you and sort of walking through and not coming at them in a in a cruel way or letting them know that Hey I'm here for you. If this is something that you didn't intend or didn't say but at the same time you know this is not behavior that we're going to tolerate because it's just going to get worse you know? (P6)

P7 was able to provide two different methods or successful strategies; the first dealt with providing anonymous feedback when they reported:

Well, one way I've done it in the past is to have employees who I say have issues is to have a 360 done on them. So to actually have people provide anonymous input into how they experience working with that employee and then sitting down with that person and sharing the feedback in a way to try to make them aware of their. Behavior, as seen through the eyes of other people. So that's one way that I've used it (P7).

The second successful strategy that P7 reported was confronting the employee so that they could see their behaviors in action. She continued to state:

I think another way is to just try to have them like see themselves, you know, try to have them see themselves, their behavior, stepping back from their behavior. Cause I think sometimes people who are bullied and treated uncivil, they don't even know they're doing it. so helping them to maybe go through a situation where their behavior was viewed as a symbol and they may not have even been aware of it (P7).

P8 discussed how having a straightforward conversation allowed him to properly and successful deal with uncivil behaviors. They reported:

It just really is a straightforward conversation of making the behaviors known to the person and letting them know that they weren't going unnoticed and that they wouldn't be tolerated. and trying to figure out what we could do together. to fix the issue because she had been a great employee really up until now and we didn't want to lose her but she was really also hurting the team and that was something that couldn't continue to happen. So I would say the ultimate strategy was just addressing the behavior head-on and not ignoring it (P8).

P9 reported that talking privately to the offender is a successful strategy, albeit in a private setting. P9 stated:

We just took a walk. We got out of the office and had a real conversation. She admitted that she had been saying mean things about the other employee behind her back. I asked her what she was trying to accomplish by doing that and she said that she didn't really know, that she was just upset from being passed over. We walked and talked for about an hour and she acknowledged that her behavior was wrong and that she would stop acting like that (P9).

Finally, P10 reported that although termination can actually be the most successful strategy, it is important to confront, track, and monitor the uncivil behavior before resorting to this method, especially if it is a first offense. P10 reported:

It would definitely be termination. I fought really hard to track conversations and passive aggressive outburst that she would have. And you know, just really every little thing because this lady had never been called out before or no one had ever tracked or documented. These issues with her before so. I took that upon myself (P10).

Used real life experiences, professional development, and the modeling of former managers. The fourth theme that emerged from the dataset for the second research question highlighted that the participants perceived that they viewed strategies

as being successful because of lived experiences, professional development, and seeing them be used with former managers. Within this theme, 8 out of the 10 participants contributed. When it came to discussing how first-level managers learned and viewed specific strategies as being successful, many of the participants reported using real life experiences, professional development, and the modeling of former managers. This was evident when P1 reported:

I've tried everything talking, write ups, you know, saying, you know, you get three write ups, we're going to terminate. You I've even threatened to take away, you know, shifts. And nothing really worked because of her mental health. So I had to take a different route. I talked to my boss a lot. My boss used to be a counselor where we work and so like a mental health counselor. And so it helps to talk to her and kind of get her. Um, even though I have many more years of management under my belt, she's got more years of counseling under her belt. So, um, just kind of working together, you know, not thinking you know everything that helps a lot (P1).

P2 was able to discuss learning successful strategies through professional learning. They reported:

A lot of ongoing professional learning, um, some great examples in my life, but also some terrible examples in my life. And I think as we have, as we have evolved as, as a workforce, you know, I think you've got, there's a lot of competing pressures (P2).

P4 stated:

I'm naturally a very organized person. So being able to see like at first like I said at first I didn't it took me a minute to try and figure out what the issues were with just with like actual work stuff. You know if you want me to go into uh the issues that I was having with the lack of communication and lack of I don't want to say lack of respect but just you know That's something different (P4).

Whereas, P5 was able to credit professional development through their Bachelor's degree and learning about different management and leadership styles. P5 reported:

I credit my bachelor's degree. I went to the path college in Massachusetts, where it's a private college it's for adult learners only. I got a killer education. It's all adult women talking about their PR their real life experience. The educators are amazing. Like I have a fantastic education from that. And just learning about management styles and learning styles. So seeing your side of it, like how you're relaying your message on to that person, but also acknowledging that the person receiving the message, maybe doing it, you know, one of 400 different ways, you know, just because it sounds some way, one way to hear it doesn't mean it's being heard the same (P5).

Strong leaders and friends who have previously worked in the field also aided in first-level managers in using successful strategies. This was evident when P6 stated:

I think learning from good leaders over the course of my lifetime. So for example I had a wonderful boss with the red cross who had a purple heart. His name is Glenn Beasley. Wonderful guy And he is somebody who I just greatly respected in interacting with him with him in my younger years (P6).

Additionally, P7 stated:

I spoke about it to some friends who are experts in human resources. So I have a very dear friend who was the senior person that has a very large company for a long time. She's retired. And I thought her advice on how to talk about some of the scenarios with this employee and how I could, you know, do an effective job because you know, it comes down to is it personality or behavior? (P7)

P7 was further able to discuss personal research and training by reporting:

I actually did some reading on it. You know, I've been doing that in leading people a lot of time in my life, but I feel you can always learn. I talked to an attorney because I need to build a case against the behavior so that I can make sure that I'm doing the things I need to do to educate her on what's expected of her, but at the same time to, to make sure that I'm documenting this process (P7).

P8 was able to discuss lived experiences as finding successful strategies. They stated:

I've always been a really direct person and I've always been a big believer in Adult conversations and that adults should have the ability to have serious and uncomfortable adult conversations. ... I would definitely say just life experiences taught me that just ignoring a problem isn't going to make it go away so you have to hit it head on and get all of those emotions an uncomfortable discussions out of the way until you can really start to make any type of meaningful impact. (P8)

Finally, P10 reported completing research in order to find the most effective strategy when dealing with workplace incivility. They reported:

Because I've seen it work and. My ultimate goal was to figure out if this person was going to stay and change their behavior and be a productive team member, which I didn't think was going to happen, but I was willing to give it a try or, you know, make sure that. I was tracking everything that was happening so you know worst case scenario if I needed to protect my job by being able to prove what had transpired, I could absolutely do that. So I just felt like it was important to choose a strategy that gave me the most protection. While also giving the person the chance to change (P10).

# **Summary**

This research study was intended to further an understanding of successful strategies first-level human service managers utilize to address workplace incivility. This was accomplished through a qualitative research approach, which provided an in-depth understanding of each of the ten participants experiences and perceptions. Based on the data collected from the participants in this study, it was learned that these managers relied on lived experiences, professional development opportunities, and the modeling of former managers when choosing the strategy to address workplace incivility. It was also discovered that successful strategies for addressing workplace incivility included confronting and documenting the behaviors. When it came to employee turnover, the participants were able to describe how oftentimes good employees were lost through the process of uncivil behaviors, as they worried about confronting behaviors and a toxic work environment.

In Chapter 5, I will discuss this research study and its relationship to current, existing literature. I will also discuss the limitations of this research study. Implications for stakeholders and recommendations for future research will also be provided and discussed. Lastly, I will discuss possibilities of positive social change for the future.

# Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

In this research study I explored an in-depth account of first hand experiences and perspectives of first-level human service managers who have successfully addressed workplace incivility. Incivility spiral theory was used as the theoretical framework of this study. The following two research questions were used to guide the direction of this study:

- **RQ1.** How do first-level human service managers describe employee turnover in relation to workplace incivility?
- **RQ2.** What successful strategies do first-level human service managers utilize to address workplace incivility?

A generic, qualitative study was conducted to gain an understanding of the participants experiences and perspectives addressing workplace incivility. Semistructured interviews, with open-ended questions, were conducted with 10 first-level, nonprofit, human service managers who self-identified as successfully utilizing a strategy to address uncivil behaviors in the workplace, in order to gain a detailed insight into each participants experience.

The findings of this study highlighted three different themes that were in alignment with the research questions: First-level and higher managers reported that they lose good employees due to workplace incivility, confronting and documenting uncivil behaviors was a common workplace strategy of first-level and higher managers, and real-life experiences, professional development, and modeling former managers assisted first-level and higher managers in dealing with workplace incivility. In this chapter, I will

provide a strong discussion of the interpretation of the findings, discussing the themes of the study in relation to previous literature. I will also identify the limitations experienced during the research process, provide recommendations for practice and future research, and discuss the study's implications.

# **Interpretation of the Findings**

I used incivility spiral theory as the theoretical framework for interpreting the data collected in this research study. Andersson and Pearson (1999) defined workplace incivility as low-intensity deviant behaviors with ambiguous intent to harm the target, in violation of workplace norms for mutual respect.

The findings of this research expand upon the current knowledge and available literature and were aligned with the identified research questions that guided this study.

RQ1. How do first-level human service managers describe employee turnover in relation to workplace incivility?

Theme 1. Losing good employees due to workplace incivility. One theme emerged under the first research question, which included first-level and higher managers reporting that they lose good employees due to workplace incivility. This finding is in alignment with previous research that has been completed such as that of Cho and Song (2017) who reported that emotional labor increases turnover intention, whereas the construct of trust decreases it. This is important to note, especially since individuals who are experiencing workplace incivility experience emotional instances with uncivil behaviors, and with individuals whose supervisors or managers may not adequately address these experiences can decrease trust, not only with their relationship with management but also that of the workplace. Additionally, Kim (2015) discussed that

employee empowerment has a negative effect on turnover intentions and these negative effects are greater when it comes to employees determining whether they will leave the field or transfer to another human service organization. In relation to this current study, Kim's (2015) study is important, simply because employees who experience workplace incivility may not feel empowered due to the effects of uncivil behaviors. Therefore, this can influence them to leave the field or transfer to another organization where they may not experience workplace incivility.

Additionally, Reich and Hershcovis (2015) discussed how peer effects can occur when uncivil behaviors are found within the workplace. The authors reported that peer effects can occur especially when negative employees influence the spread of misconduct and the cultivation of a negative environment in the workplace. This in turn can create a group of uncivil employees. When uncivil employees see that the potential risk of engaging in negative behavior is low, negative employees tend to perpetuate their behaviors (Jones, 2017; Rockett et al., 2017). When uncivil employee behavior continues, employee turnover rates increase (Schilpzand et al., 2016). Therefore, this piece of research is important, because by uncivil behaviors occurring in the workplace, other employees who are negative by nature tend to follow suit in regard to uncivil behaviors, thus increasing employee turnover and the loss of strong employees.

Sliter et al. (2015) has also reported that prevalence rates are as high as 75 to 100%, indicating that almost all employees in today's workforce have experienced some level of uncivil behavior while working. These reported amounts of workplace incivility is tremendous, simply because if these behaviors remain unaddressed, businesses can lose

the majority of their workforce. Additionally, Harrison (2015) and Katz et al. (2019) have reported that workplace incivility can manifest in three different ways, including that of interpersonal interactions, cyber interactions, and victimless interactions. Research has dictated that there are limited studies that have focused on workplace incivility in regard to interpersonal communication, which has been defined as face-to-face communication in a workplace setting. Because these instances of communication are oftentimes private, individuals who experience uncivil behaviors during these interactions may not feel comfortable in reporting these behaviors to their supervisors. In these instances, Reich and Hershcovis (2015) have reported that the effect of witnessing workplace incivility can be oftentimes mediated by an observer's negative emotional reaction toward the instigator, which highlights the importance of understanding interpersonal communications when it comes to experiencing uncivil behaviors, where more research needs to be completed. By exploring these instances of workplace incivility, even higher rates of staff turnover and the loss of strong employees can occur.

It is also important to discuss other ways in which research has demonstrated how good employees leave their positions due to workplace incivility. The experience of uncivil behaviors can also influence an employees' creativity output, leading to severe emotional exhaustion (Hur et al., 2016). In terms of both customers and coworkers, interpersonal communications that are marked with uncivil behavior decrease an employees' level of intrinsic motivation, thus decreasing their level of creativity that they bring to the workplace. Therefore, organizations have two main causes of employee turnover due to workplace incivility; the experience of uncivil behaviors and the

experience of burnout amongst good and strong employees due to the loss of motivation and creativity. Anjum et al. (2018) additionally explained that organizations should work towards retaining employees, because employee retention aids in decreasing expenses and provides a positive impact on a company's morale. Therefore, this highlights the important need to support all employees while adopting a zero-tolerance policy throughout the organization.

# RQ2. What successful strategies do first-level human service managers utilize to address workplace incivility?

Two themes were highlighted under the second research question: Theme two included confronting and documenting uncivil behaviors as being a common workplace strategy of first-level and higher managers. Theme three included using real-life experiences, professional development, and modeling former managers in order to assist first-level managers in dealing with workplace incivility.

Theme 2: Confronting and documenting uncivil behaviors. The second theme that emerged from the data is that of confronting and documenting uncivil behaviors were the most common ways of dealing with workplace incivility. This finding is not necessarily in alignment with previous research that has been completed, as evidenced by Hershcovis et al. (2018) who reported that confronting uncivil behaviors is not necessarily effective because confrontation can increase uncivil and future targeted behaviors. However, documenting instances of uncivil behavior is crucial, as evidenced by research completed by Johansen and Cadmus (2016) who reported the importance of managers having communications, awareness, and education in order to address and document the issue at hand. Hoffman and Chunta (2015) reported that there are many

steps when it comes to addressing workplace incivility, which can include managers being familiar with the policies and procedures for dealing with uncivil behaviors. Therefore, it is paramount for managers to review institutional policies that discuss bias, harassment, and retaliation. Other ways that managers can address workplace incivility include setting clear expectations with staff members before any incidents occur, model behaviors that they would like to see in the workplace, and promote open communication where employees can openly discuss their feelings without retribution (Abdollahzadeh et al., 2017). Researchers have provided guidance and recommendations for strategies and programs employers can utilize to increase organizations' employee retention while helping uncivil employees improve their behaviors and succeed in their job (Beattie & Griffin, 2014; Evans, 2017, Ibrahim & Qalawa, 2016, Lee et al., 2016, Shin & Hur, 2019). These strategies have included employee education programs (Evans, 2017), cognitive reframing exercises (Shin & Hur, 2019), and assertive communication skills training (Ibrahim & Qalawa, 2016); yet, little to no studies have been completed by researchers that have addressed how successful such responsive strategies are, especially within the human services field. Other ways of dealing with workplace incivility have been documented including the need for managers to utilize effective coping skills. Labun (2019) reported that most leaders feel that their departments are civil, yet approximately half of their staff feel the same way. This is an enormous implication for human services organizations, as it demonstrates the need to properly and appropriately address workplace incivility. Chen and Wang (2019) discussed how emotional intelligence can aid in addressing workplace incivility, simply because this construct aids

employees to have the ability to be aware of, control, and express one's emotions. This is important, simply because it can allow managers and employees to have constructive and honest conversations about turnover intentions. By increasing a department's level of emotional intelligence, it can be the first step in addressing workplace incivility; however, other strategies are needed that focus specifically on addressing perpetrators' behaviors. It should also be noted that the research that focuses on strategies to address workplace incivility is dearth, as I have also found little to no studies that focus on specific successful strategies that managers in the human services field use when experiencing these problematic behaviors. This gap in the literature aided in providing the need for this study.

Theme 3: Using real-life experiences, professional development, and modeling former managers to assist in dealing with workplace incivility. The third theme that emerged from the dataset included that first-level and higher managers used real-life experiences, professional development, and modelling former managers in order to assist in dealing with workplace incivility and uncivil behaviors. Similarly, to the second theme, there is little to not studies that have focused on successful strategies that managers use when dealing with workplace incivility; however, some research has focused on the need for professional development. Researchers St. Pierre (2019) and Martinez and Eisenberg (2019) discussed two ways in which workplace incivility can be addressed; directly from the employees that experience uncivil behaviors (St. Pierre, 2019) and those that stem from a managers reaction on how to address this from an organizational perspective (Martinez & Eisenberg, 2019). This is an important connection

to the previous literature, simply because it seems that the managers react to workplace incivility based upon their own experiences of how to handle it. For example, participants in this study discussed how they modeled former managers on how to deal with this toxic workplace phenomenon. Therefore, the research is strong, that first-level or higher managers use their own experiences when dealing with uncivil behaviors. Additionally, Evans (2017) highlighted the importance of employee education, including managers so that they can respond appropriately to instances of workplace incivility. This appeared to be completed in this current study as some of the managers reported that they utilize resources and tactics learnt throughout professional development workshops. Kisner (2018) reported the need to provide employees and managers with staff development training programs that focus on uncivil behaviors and workplace incivility as well as educational components that encompass a variety of topics to improve communication skills, challenging perpetrators, and using silence to promote thinking.

Additionally, training programs should be provided to employees so that they are aware of the standards of civil behavior found in organizations; therefore, when addressing or implementing a zero-tolerance policy in a human services organization it can be easily stated that the said employee was trained and understood the impact of uncivil behaviors (Denhardt et al., 2018). With the addition of continuous emerging technologies, it is important to guide staff training sessions towards three components where workplace incivility can be found; interpersonal communication, technological communication, and victimless instances of uncivil behavior (Schilpzand et al., 2016). Real-life experiences and the modeling of former managers did not appear to be covered

within the literature; however, these concepts that were highlighted by the participants still have to do with the importance of staff training and education.

## **Limitations of the Study**

There are some limitations that were experienced within this study that need to be discussed. The first limitation included that of the participants themselves. Because this study focused on human service first-level or higher managers, the results of the study may not be generalizable to a population outside of these parameters. For example, the results may not be generalizable to other organizations outside of the human service field due to experiences that may have been specific to social services. Additionally, because this study was completed in the United States, the results may not be generalizable to areas outside of this geographical area. Therefore, future studies are recommended for other geographical areas and populations that are of interest to study.

A second limitation to this study was that of the criteria that was used to recruit the participants. One of the study's criteria acted as a limitation to this study due to prospective participants self-reporting that they had had experience in dealing with a human resources referral for a problematic employee. There were limited ways to determine whether a prospective participant actually had had this experience, or to what level, as it was deemed as a subjective experience. Therefore, because it was unknown of the level of training that the participants had in dealing with a problematic employee, it could not be determined if they were dealing with an employee who engaged in specific uncivil behaviors.

A third limitation to this research was researcher bias. Because I completed a qualitative study, researcher bias could have occurred. However, I did attempt to limit the instance of researcher bias by following an interview protocol and ensuring that I asked each of the participants the same open-ended questions during the semistructured interviews. Additionally, in order to address researcher bias I had a doctoral student colleague to complete a peer review of the study's findings. During this peer review my doctoral student colleague reviewed the findings in conjunction with the interview transcripts to ensure that there was limited bias. Additionally, in order to ensure that bias was not occurring in the data that was being collected, I also completed member checking. Member checking occurred when I sent a .PDF of the interview transcripts via electronic mail (email) to each participant after the recordings of each interview had been transcribed. During member checking, each participant reviewed the transcript of their interview to ensure accuracy of the collected data. None of the participants requested any changes to the transcripts and reported that the transcripts reported exactly what they said.

## Recommendations

There are some recommendations that need to be made, both for the practice and for future studies. In regards to recommendations for practice, it is recommended that human service organizations develop strong professional development training programs for first-level and higher managers to complete in order for them to strongly understand workplace incivility, uncivil behaviors, and ways to address workplace incivility quickly and efficiently. Additionally, all employees within the organization should also be trained

on workplace incivility and how to identify uncivil behaviors. Training could also include a combined audience of both management and employees, simply because this in itself could create a culture of the importance of understanding workplace incivility and how it can be addressed from both sides of the aisle. Additionally, a combined training program could allow both managements and employees to commit to a zero-tolerance culture throughout the organization that highlights the seriousness of uncivil behaviors and workplace incivility. Training should also be provided to management and employees that focus on topics outside of workplace incivility. This could include trainings on emotional intelligence, assertive communication skills, and other psychological constructs that can in keeping both employees and management motivated and creative within their positions. This is because employee turnover not only occurs because of the instances of workplace incivility or experiences of uncivil behaviors, but also due to the processes or lack thereof of dealing with a toxic work environment. Therefore, training programs can focus on employee retention and how management and employees can work together to build a strong, honest, and safe environment for all.

Another recommendation for practice is to ensure of stronger supportive measures for employees that are experiencing workplace incivility. For example, because the results of this study highlighted that managers are losing employees due to workplace incivility, it is important to ensure that employees are appropriately supported during their experiences. This falls in alignment with the need for strong training programs that not only educate first level and higher managers of social service organizations on workplace incivility, but also effective strategies that can be used to assist with the

process of dealing with uncivil behaviors that are found in the workplace. For example, employees need to know that confidentiality and privacy will be maintained whenever possible, yet will be provided with the tools on how to handle the situation from both a physical and emotional standpoint. By following specific strategies to deal with workplace incivility, letting employees know these processes are important, as it demonstrates what they can expect from their employer and how the issue is being taken seriously.

There are also some recommendations for future research, which includes continuing research on this same topic. For example, it would behoove future researchers to continue with this research in other organizational settings to better understand effective strategies that they utilize when dealing with workplace incivility. It is important to note that some of the strategies that first-level and higher managers reported in this current study were not in alignment with current research, such as that of confronting the offender. Future research needs to be focused on these areas of hodgepodge results in order to better understand how confrontation is used and in what ways this strategy is effective for dealing with uncivil behaviors. Another recommendation for future studies could include that of research that is more longitudinal in nature. For example, studies that are completed over a longer period of time could focus on specific workplace uncivil behaviors and how strategies that are used to deal with workplace incivility are effective over time. Finally, completing future research that focuses on how training programs can be effective in dealing with workplace incivility is important. Because previous research has indicated the need to explore issues of

emotional intelligence and assertive communication skills can focus on how training programs can contribute to a healthier workplace environment. This is important because it has been determined that training on workplace incivility does not necessarily have to focus on the constructs of uncivil behaviors.

## **Implications**

There are several implications that need to be discussed with this study. The first implication is that policy changes need to be made within social services organizations in regard to workplace incivility as per the first theme that emerged from the data. The first theme highlighted how many of the participants in this study reported losing good employees due to uncivil behaviors. This can indicate that there is a lack strong training or policies that aid in dealing with workplace incivility as well as a lack of understanding of how to approach, handle and deal with this toxic workplace phenomenon. As discussed, there are three important components of why addressing workplace incivility is important for employee turnover and retention. Firstly, peer affects can be experienced when workplace incivility is occurring; that is, other negative employees who have not demonstrated uncivil behaviors typically feel the need to begin displaying instances of workplace incivility. This in turn, appears to create a chain reaction, which increases the toxicity levels of the department or organization, thus providing an increase of employee turnover.

Secondly, Sliter et al. (2015) had also reported that prevalence rates are as high as 75 to 100%, indicating that almost all employees in today's workforce have experienced some level of uncivil behavior while working. These numbers appear to be astronomical,

which can indicate that if not addressed appropriately and properly, workplace incivility could severely damage an organization by experiencing even higher numbers of turnover than what are currently reported. These numbers support the findings of this study by highlighting how good employees can definitely be lost due to uncivil behaviors in the workplace.

Thirdly, it is important to protect employee retention through understanding the different ways in which workplace incivility can manifest. Harrison (2015) and Katz et al. (2019) have reported that workplace incivility can manifest in three different ways, including that of interpersonal interactions, cyber interactions, and victimless interactions. Because previous research has indicated that interpersonal communications have not been studied when it comes to workplace incivility, this is an important area that promotes many different implications. For example, because interpersonal communications are defined as face-to-face communications and can be completed in a private setting, workplace incivility may not be addressed, skewing the numbers of instances of uncivil behaviors in the workforce. If both staff and management are not appropriately trained on identifying and responding to workplace incivility, then it can be difficult for employees to report instances of uncivil behaviors to their employees; thus, increasing employee turnover to the bullying effects within the toxic workplace. It can be difficult for first-level or higher managers to know that uncivil behaviors are occurring in private face-to-face interpersonal communications, thus the importance of providing training to all members of the organization.

This is also supported in the second theme that highlighted that first-level and higher managers tend to view successful strategies as documenting and confronting uncivil behaviors, while also using real-life experiences, professional development, and the modeling of former managers to deal with workplace incivility. Previous researchers have suggested other strategies that have deemed successful that were not highlighted within the results of this study, such as that of Abdollahzadeh et al. (2017) who discussed the importance of setting clear expectations with staff members before any incidents occur, model behaviors that they would like to see in the workplace, and promote open communication where employees can openly discuss their feelings without retribution. Additionally, Shin and Hur (2019) reported that organizations can ensure that they can teach their employees cognitive reframing exercises in order to deal with uncivil behaviors, and Ibrahim and Qalawa (2016) reported the importance of promoting assertive communication skills training.

The first-level manager participants in this study work in positions where these strategies could be applied, but as I learned through collecting and analyzing the data, none of the participants had received training on any of these recommended strategies; however, all of the participants utilized components of these strategies in their approach to successfully address the uncivil employees behaviors, which they derived through lived experience, consulting with colleagues, and in one instance, Google. This can indicate that first-level managers in this study were oftentimes left to their own devices in their organizations in order to find effective ways to deal with workplace incivility. Therefore, it is important that social service organizations work to ensure that they do

have policies, procedures, training, and support for all staff in order to deal with workplace incivility. This can additionally decrease employee turnover.

Another area that has implications to this current study is the teaching of emotional intelligence. Because there were limited studies that have focused on specific strategies of dealing with workplace incivility, other research has been completed that has focused on the strengthening and understanding of emotional intelligence. Chen and Wang (2019) discussed how emotional intelligence could aid in addressing workplace incivility, simply because this construct aids employees in having the ability to be aware of, control, and express one's emotions. This is important, simply because it can allow managers and employees to have constructive and honest conversations about turnover intentions. Yet, at the same time, these conversations, combined with training on how to identify instances of workplace incivility, can also create a culture in the organization where displaying emotional intelligence to a supervisor can be beneficial. A culture that allows for honest expressions about feelings regarding workplace incivility will aid in decreasing not only turnover intentions, but also that of instances of workplace incivility and toxic, uncivil behaviors.

#### **Conclusion**

The purpose of this generic qualitative study was to understand successful strategies that first-level human service managers utilized when addressing workplace incivility that aids in reducing turnover. The results of this study highlighted three themes that emerged from the data: First-level and higher managers reported that they lose good employees due to workplace incivility, confronting and documenting uncivil behaviors

was a common workplace strategy of first-level and higher managers, and real-life experiences, professional development, and modeling former managers assisted first-level and higher managers in dealing with workplace incivility.

The findings of this research expand upon the current knowledge and available literature. As discussed in Chapter 2, there were many recommendations for strategies to use when addressing workplace incivility: employee education programs (Evans, 2017), cognitive reframing exercises (Shin & Hur, 2019), and assertive communication skills training (Ibrahim & Qalawa, 2016). The first-level manager participants in this study worked in positions where these strategies could be applied, but as I learned through collecting and analyzing the data, none of the participants had received training on any of these recommended strategies; however, all of the participants utilized components of these strategies in their approach to successfully address the uncivil employees behaviors. Therefore, it was recommended that organizations review their current policies and procedures in order to provide training and support to all employees when confronting and dealing with workplace incivility.

## References

- Abdollahzadeh, F., Asghari, E., Ebrahimi, H., Rahmani, A., & Vahidi, M. (2017). How to Prevent Workplace Incivility?: Nurses' Perspective. *Iranian Journal of Nursing & Midwifery Research*, 22(2), 157–163. Doi: 10.4103/1735-9066.205966
- Al-Emadi, A. A. Q., Schwabenland, C., & Wei, Q. (2015). The vital role of employee retention in human resource management: A literature review. *IUP Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 14(3), 7. doi:10.9734/jemt/2017/32997
- Al Mamun, C. A., & Hasan, M. N. (2017). Factors affecting employee turnover and sound retention strategies in business organization: A conceptual view. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, 15(1), 63-71. doi:10.21511/ppm.15(1).2017.06
- Andersson, L., & Pearson, C. (1999). Tit for Tat? The Spiraling Effect of Incivility in the Workplace. *Academy of Management Review*, 24(3), 452-471. doi:10.5465/amr.1999.2202131
- Anjum, A., Ming, X., Siddiqi, A. F., & Rasool, S. F. (2018). An empirical study analyzing job productivity in toxic workplace environments. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *15*(5), 1035. doi:10.3390/ijerph15051035
- Archer, C. A. (2017). Leader Member Exchange and Performance in Nonprofit Human Services Organizations. ScholarWorks. doi:10.1002/nml.53
- Ashton, T. S. (1997). The industrial revolution 1760-1830. *Oxford University Press Catalogue*, New York, New York. Retrieved from https://ideas.repec.org/b/oxp/obooks/9780192892898.html

- Atkinson, M. (2016). Ethnography. *In Routledge handbook of qualitative research in sport and exercise* (pp. 71-83). Routledge, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. doi: 10.1016/j.smr.2019.01.003.
- Atmadja, T. S. (2019). Workplace Toxicity, Leadership Behaviors, and Leadership Strategies. ScholarWorks. https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/6516
- Bar-David, S. (2015). *Trust Your Canary: Every Leader's Guide to Taming Workplace Incivility*. BookBaby, Pennsauken Township, New Jersey. ISBN 9780994726407
- Baronce, E. (2015). From Passivity to Toxicity: Susceptible followers in a conducive environment (Dissertation). Retrieved from <a href="http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:lnu:diva-45272">http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:lnu:diva-45272</a>
- Basford, T. E., Offermann, L. R., & Behrend, T. S. (2014). Do you see what I see?

  Perceptions of gender micro-aggressions in the workplace. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 38(3), 340-349. doi:10.1177/0361684313511420
- Beattie, L., & Griffin, B. (2014). Day-level fluctuations in stress and engagement in response to workplace incivility: A diary study. *Work & Stress*, 28(2), 124-142. doi: 10.1080/02678373.2014.898712
- Bellamy, K., Ostini, R., Martini, N. *et al.* Seeking to understand: using generic qualitative research to explore access to medicines and pharmacy services among resettled refugees. *Int J Clin Pharm* 38, 671–675 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11096-016-0261-1
- Bennett, J. W. (2017). *Northern plainsmen: adaptive strategy and agrarian life*.

  Routledge, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. ISBN-13: 978-0202309644

- Bevan, S. (2016). Analysing, monitoring and costing labour turnover. In *Research Handbook on Employee Turnover*. Edward Elgar Publishing, Northampton, Massachusetts. ISBN: 9781784711146
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: a tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation?. *Qualitative health* research, 26(13), 1802-1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Borges, M. A., Levine, J. R., & Dutton, L. J. (1984). Men's and women's ratings of life satisfaction by age of respondent and age interval judged. *Sex Roles*, *11*, 345–350. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00287525
- Brooks, K. A. (2018). Addressing Incivility in Nursing: Use of Moral Courage by Nurse

  Leaders (Doctoral dissertation, Carlow University). Retrieved from

  https://search.proquest.com/openview/aa7d2c51eaee1cd8f8a5949581402202/1?pq

  -origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y
- Burnett, E. (2019). Building a New Perspective on Unethical Workplace Behavior: A

  Qualitative Examination of Former Employees' Recounted Experiences (Doctoral dissertation, Clemson University).

  https://tigerprints.clemson.edu/all\_dissertations/2429
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(5), 811-831.
- Chen, H. T., & Wang, C. H. (2019). Incivility, satisfaction and turnover intention of tourist hotel chefs: Moderating effects of emotional intelligence. *International*

- Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 31(5), 2034-2053. ISSN: 0959-6119
- Chen, Y., Wang, Z., Peng, Y., Geimer, J., Sharp, O., & Jex, S. (2019). The multidimensionality of workplace incivility: Cross-cultural evidence. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 26(4), 356–366. https://doi.org/10.1037/str0000116
- Chenoweth, L., & McAuliffe, D. (2017). *The Road to Social Work and Human Service*Practice with Student Resource Access 12 Months. Cengage, Boston,

  Massachusetts. ISBN: 9780170259835
- Chirot, D. (2011). *How societies change* (Vol. 1). Sage Publications, Newbury Park, California. ISBN: 978-1412992565
- Cho, M., Bonn, M. A., Han, S. J., & Lee, K. H. (2016). Workplace incivility and its effect upon restaurant frontline service employee emotions and service performance. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality*Management, 28(12), 2888-2912. doi:10.1108/ijchm-04-2015-0205
- Cho, Y. J., & Song, H. J. (2017). Determinants of Turnover Intention of Social Workers.

  Public Personnel Management, 46(1), 41–65. doi:10.1177/0091026017696395
- Clark, C. M. (2019). Combining Cognitive Rehearsal, Simulation, and Evidence-Based Scripting to Address Incivility. *Nurse Educator*, 44(2), 64–68. doi:10.1097/nne.0000000000000563

- Clark, C. M., & Gorton, K. L. (2019). Cognitive Rehearsal, HeartMath, and Simulation:

  An Intervention to Build Resilience and Address Incivility. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 58(12), 690–697. doi:10.3928/01484834-20191120-03
- Cohen, G., Blake, R. S., & Goodman, D. (2016). Does Turnover Intention Matter?

  Evaluating the Usefulness of Turnover Intention Rate as a Predictor of Actual

  Turnover Rate. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 36(3), 240–263.

  doi:10.1177/0734371x15581850
- Connelly L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in Qualitative Research. *Medsurg nursing*: official journal of the Academy of Medical-Surgical Nurses, 25(6), 435–436.
- Cook, A., Lorwin, V., & Daniels, A. (1992). *The Most Difficult Revolution: Women and Trade Unions*. Ithaca; London: Cornell University Press. doi:10.7591/j.ctvv416vj
- Corin, L., & Björk, L. (2016). Job Demands and Job Resources in Human Service

  Managerial Work An External Assessment Through Work Content Analysis.

  Nordic Journal of Working Life Studies, 6(4), 3. doi:10.19154/njwls.v6i4.5610
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Sage publications, Newbury Park, California. ISBN 978-1-5063-8670-6
- Dainton, M., & Zelley, E. D. (2017). Applying communication theory for professional life: A practical introduction. Sage publications, Newbury Park, California. ISBN 9781506315478

- Davis, P. R., Trevor, C. O., & Feng, J. (2015). Creating a more quit-friendly national workforce? Individual layoff history and voluntary turnover. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 100(5), 1434–1455. doi:10.1037/apl0000012
- De Clercq, D., Haq, I. U., & Azeem, M. U. (2018). Self-efficacy to spur job performance.

  Management Decision, 56(4), 891–907. doi:10.1108/md-03-2017-0187
- Demsky, C. A., Fritz, C., Hammer, L. B., & Black, A. E. (2019). Workplace incivility and employee sleep: The role of rumination and recovery experiences. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 24(2), 228–240. doi:10.1037/ocp0000116
- Denhardt, R. B., Denhardt, J. V., Aristigueta, M. P., & Rawlings, K. C. (2018). *Managing human behavior in public and nonprofit organizations*. CQ Press, Washington, D.C. ISBN 978-1-5063-8266-1
- Despard, M. R. (2016). Challenges in Implementing Evidence-Based Practices and Programs in Nonprofit Human Service Organizations. *Journal of Evidence-Informed Social Work*, 13(6), 505–522. doi:10.1080/23761407.2015.1086719
- Devereux, S., & Sabates-Wheeler, R. (2004). Transformative social protection (Master's thesis, Institute of Development Studies).

  https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/bitstream/handle/20.500.12413/4071/Wp232.
  pdf?sequence=1
- Doshy, P. V., & Wang, J. (2014). Workplace incivility: What do targets say about it?. *American journal of management*, 14(1-2), 30-42.

- Dzurec, L. C., & Albataineh, R. (2014). Unacknowledged threats proffered "in a manner of speaking": Recognizing workplace bullying as shaming. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 46(4), 281-291. doi:10.1111/jnu.12080
- Edelman, M., & Wolford, W. (2017). Introduction: Critical Agrarian Studies in Theory and Practice. Antipode, 49(4), 959–976. doi:10.1111/anti.12326
- Ellis, A. M., Nifadkar, S. S., Bauer, T. N., & Erdogan, B. (2017). Newcomer adjustment:

  Examining the role of managers' perception of newcomer proactive behavior

  during organizational socialization. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102(6), 993–

  1001. doi:10.1037/apl0000201
- Etikan, I. (2016). Comparision of Snowball Sampling and Sequential Sampling Technique. *Biometrics & Biostatistics International Journal*, 3(1). doi:10.15406/bbij.2016.03.00055
- Etikan, I. (2016). Comparison of Convenience Sampling and Purposive Sampling.

  \*American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics, 5(1), 1.

  doi:10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- Evans, D. (2017). Categorizing the magnitude and frequency of exposure to uncivil behaviors: A new approach for more meaningful interventions. *Journal of nursing* scholarship, 49(2), 214-222. doi:10.1111/jnu.12275
- Fida, R., Laschinger, H. K. S., & Leiter, M. P. (2018). The protective role of self-efficacy against workplace incivility and burnout in nursing: A time-lagged study. *Health* care management review, 43(1), 21-29. doi:10.1111/jnu.12275

- Fombelle, P. W., Voorhees, C. M., Jenkins, M. R., Sidaoui, K., Benoit, S., Gruber, T., Gustafsson, A., & Abosag, I. (2019). Customer deviance: A framework, prevention strategies, and opportunities for future research. *Journal of Business Research*, *116*, 387–400. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.09.012
- Fox, S., & Cowan, R. L. (2017). Revision of the workplace bullying checklist: The importance of human resource management's role in defining and addressing workplace bullying. *Human Resource Management Journal*, *25(1)*, 116–130. doi: 10.1111/1748-8583.12049
- Frederick, D. (2016). Libraries, data and the fourth industrial revolution (Data Deluge Column). *Library Hi Tech News*. 33. 9-12. 10.1108/LHTN-05-2016-0025.
- Fuller, D. Q. (2006). Agricultural origins and frontiers in South Asia: a working synthesis. *Journal of World Prehistory*, 20(1), 1-86. doi:10.1007/s10963-006-9007-7
- Gilbert, G. E., & Calhoun, A. W. (2019). Case Study 3: Application of Quantitative Methodology. In *Healthcare Simulation Research* (pp. 349-354). Springer, Cham, New York, New York. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-26837-4\_47
- Glesne, C. (2016). *Becoming qualitative researchers: An introduction*. Pearson. Upper Saddle River, New Jersey. ISBN: 978-0-1338-5939-3
- Glisson, C. (2015). The role of organizational culture and climate in innovation and effectiveness. *Human service organizations: management, leadership & governance*, 39(4), 245-250. doi:10.1080/23303131.2015.1087770

- Glover, D., & Kusterer, K. (2016). Small farmers, big business: contract farming and rural development. Springer, New York, New York. ISBN: 978-0-312-04631-6
- Greener, S. (2018). Research limitations: the need for honesty and common sense. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 26(5), 567-568. doi:10.1080/10494820.2018.1486785
- Griffin, E. (2017). The Industrial Revolution: Social costs and social change.

  In *Routledge Handbook of the History of Sustainability* (pp. 106-119). Routledge,
  Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. ISBN: 978-1-138-68579-6
- Griffiths, A., Desrosiers, P., Gabbard, J., Royse, D., & Piescher, K. (2019). Retention of Child Welfare Caseworkers: The Wisdom of Supervisors. *Child Welfare*, 97(3), 61-83. ISSN: 0009-4021
- Hall, R., Scoones, I., & Tsikata, D. (2017). Plantations, outgrowers and commercial farming in Africa: agricultural commercialization and implications for agrarian change. *The journal of Peasant studies*, 44(3), 515-537. doi:10.1080/03066150.2016.1263187
- Halpern, R. (2017). Neighborhood-based services in low-income neighborhoods: A brief history. In *Reinventing Human Services* (pp. 19-40). Routledge, Philadelphia,
   Pennsylvania. doi:10.4324/9781315128313-3

- Harold, C. M., & Holtz, B. C. (2015). The effects of passive leadership on workplace incivility. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *36*(1), 16-38. doi:10.1002/job.1926
- Harrison, T. (2015). Virtuous reality: moral theory and research into cyberbullying. *Ethics and Information Technology*, *17*(4), 275-283. doi:10.1007/s10676-015-9382-9
- Hartwell, R. M. (2017). *The industrial revolution and economic growth*. Routledge, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. ISBN: 9781351696951
- Hayes, B., Douglas, C., & Bonner, A. (2015). Work environment, job satisfaction, stress and burnout among haemodialysis nurses. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 23(5), 588-598. doi:10.1111/jonm.12184
- Heischman, R. M., Nagy, M. S., & Settler, K. J. (2019). Before you send that: Comparing the outcomes of face-to-face and cyber incivility. *The Psychologist-Manager Journal*, 22(1), 1. doi:10.1037/mgr0000081
- Hershcovis, M. S., Cameron, A. F., Gervais, L., & Bozeman, J. (2018). The effects of confrontation and avoidance coping in response to workplace incivility. *Journal of occupational health psychology*, 23(2), 163.
- Hershcovis, M. S., Neville, L., Reich, T. C., Christie, A. M., Cortina, L. M., & Shan, J. V. (2017). Witnessing wrongdoing: The effects of observer power on incivility intervention in the workplace. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 142, 45-57. doi:10.1037/ocp0000078

- Hetschko, C. (2016). On the misery of losing self-employment. *Small Business Economics*, 47(2), 461-478. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2529976
- Heugten, K. (2018). Inter-personal and Organisational Aggression in Human Services
  Following a Community Disaster. *British Journal of Social Work*, 48(6), 1682–
  1699. doi:10.1093/bjsw/bcx121
- Higgins, B. (2017). *Reinventing human services: Community-and family-centered*practice. Routledge, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. doi:10.4324/9781315128313
- Hill, C. J. (2019). *Uncovering Workplace Secrets: A Phenomenological Investigation into when Deviant Subordinate Behavior Leads to Toxicity in the Workplace* (Doctoral dissertation, Benedictine University).
- Hoffman, R. L., & Chunta, K. (2015). Workplace incivility: promoting zero tolerance in nursing. *Journal of radiology nursing*, *34*(4), 222-227. doi:10.1016/j.jradnu.2015.09.004
- Holder, A. M., & Nadal, K. L. (2016). Systemic and workplace micro-aggressions and the workplace. In E. L. Short & L. Wilton (Eds.), Talking about structural inequalities in everyday life: New politics of race in groups, organizations and social systems (pp. 47-64). Charlotte, NC: Information Age.
- Holm, K., Torkelson, E., & Bäckström, M. (2015). Models of Workplace Incivility: The Relationships to Instigated Incivility and Negative Outcomes. *BioMed Research International, Vol 2015 (2015)*. doi:10.1155/2015/920239
- Horn, J. (2016). *The industrial revolution: history, documents, and key questions*. ABC-CLIO, Santa Barbara, California. ISBN: 9781610698856

- Howell, D. W. (2016). *Land and people in nineteenth-century Wales*. Routledge, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. ISBN: 9781317266709
- Hur, W. M., Moon, T., & Jun, J. K. (2016). The effect of workplace incivility on service employee creativity: the mediating role of emotional exhaustion and intrinsic motivation. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 30(3), 302-315. doi:10.1108/jsm-10-2014-0342
- Hutchinson, M., & Jackson, D. (2013). Hostile clinician behaviors in the nursing work environment and implications for patient care: a mixed-methods systematic review. *BMC nursing*, 12(1), 25. doi:10.1186/1472-6955-12-25
- Ibrahim, S. A. E. A., & Qalawa, S. A. (2016). Factors affecting nursing students' incivility: As perceived by students and faculty staff. *Nurse education today*, *36*, 118-123. 10.1016/j.nedt.2015.08.014
- Itzkovich, Y., & Heilbrunn, S. (2016). The role of co-workers' solidarity as an antecedent of incivility and deviant behavior in organizations. *Deviant Behavior*, *37*(8), 861-876. doi:10.1080/01639625.2016.1152865
- Jiménez, P., Dunkl, A., & Peißl, S. (2015). Workplace incivility and its effects on value congruence, recovery-stress-state and the intention to quit. *Psychology*, *6*(14), 1930. doi:10.4236/psych.2015.614190
- Johansen, M. L., & Cadmus, E. (2016). Conflict management style, supportive work environments and the experience of work stress in emergency nurses. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 24(2), 211-218. doi:10.1111/jonm.12302

- Johnson, T., Selber, K., & Lauderdale, M. (2017). Developing quality services for offenders and families: An innovative partnership. In *Children with Parents in Prison* (pp. 127-148). Routledge, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. doi:10.4324/9781315081359-8
- Jones, A. L. (2017). Experience of protagonists in workplace bullying: An integrated literature review. *International Journal of Nursing & Clinical Practices*, 4, 246. doi:10.15344/2394-4978/2017/246
- Jung, H. S., & Yoon, H. H. (2018). The relative impact of workplace incivility and bullying as a social stressor at work: The effects of workplace incivility and bullying on employees' coping and behavior. *International Journal of Tourism and Hospitality Research*, 32(4), 79–89. doi: 10.21298/ijthr.2018.4.32.4.79
- Kabat-Farr, D., Cortina, L. M., & Marchiondo, L. A. (2018). The emotional aftermath of incivility: Anger, guilt, and the role of organizational commitment. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 25(2), 109. doi:10.1037/str0000045
- Kabat-Farr, D., Walsh, B. M., & McGonagle, A. K. (2019). Uncivil supervisors and perceived work ability: the joint moderating roles of job involvement and grit. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *156*(4), 971-985. doi:10.1007/s10551-017-3604-5
- Kahlke, R. (2018). Reflection/Commentary on a Past Article: "Generic Qualitative Approaches: Pitfalls and Benefits of Methodological Mixology. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17(1), 1609406918788193.

  doi:10.1177/1609406918788193

- Kahlke, R. M. (2014). Generic Qualitative Approaches: Pitfalls and Benefits of Methodological Mixology. International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 37–52. doi:10.1177/160940691401300119
- Kallio, H., Pietilä, A. M., Johnson, M., & Kangasniemi, M. (2016). Systematic methodological review: developing a framework for a qualitative semi-structured interview guide. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 72(12), 2954-2965.
   doi:10.1111/jan.13031
- Kemeny, M. E., & Mabry, J. B. (2015). Making meaningful improvements to direct care worker training through informed policy: Understanding how care setting structure and culture matter. *Gerontology & geriatrics education*, 38(3), 295-312. doi:10.1080/02701960.2015.1103652
- Kennison, M., & Dzurec, L. C. (2017). Responding When Incivility Arises in the Workplace. Presentation from Sigma Repository. http://hdl.handle.net/10755/621318
- Kerber, C., Woith, W. M., Jenkins, S. H., & Astroth, K. S. (2015). Perceptions of new nurses concerning incivility in the workplace. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 46(11), 522-527. doi:10.3928/00220124-20151020-05
- Kim, J. (2015). What Increases Public Employees' Turnover Intention? *Public Personnel Management*, 44(4), 496–519. doi:10.1177/0091026015604447
- King, M., "Strategies to Identify and Reduce Workplace Bullying to Increase

  Productivity" (2019). *Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies*. 7307.

  https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/7307

- Kirchhoff, Jörg & Karlsson, Jan. (2013). Expansion of output: Organizational misbehaviour in public enterprises. *Economic and Industrial Democracy*. 34. 107-122. 10.1177/0143831X12439113.
- Kisner, T. (2018). Workplace incivility: How do you address it? *Nursing*, 48(6), 36–40. doi:10.1097/01.NURSE.0000532746.88129.e9
- Kluemper, D. H., Taylor, S. G., Bowler, W. M., Bing, M. N., & Halbesleben, J. R. B. (2019). How leaders perceive employee deviance: Blaming victims while excusing favorites. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 104(7), 946–964. doi:10.1037/apl0000387
- Labor, C. (1990). Industrial Revolution. *Bloomington, Indiana*.
- Labun, M. (2019). How to Address Workplace Incivility. Training Industry. Retrieved from https://trainingindustry.com/articles/strategy-alignment-and-planning/how-to-address-workplace-incivility/.
- Landy, F. J., & Conte, J. M. (2016). Work in the 21st century, Binder ready version: An introduction to Industrial and Organizational Psychology. John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, New Jersey. ISBN: 9781118976272
- Laschinger, H. K. S., Cummings, G., Leiter, M., Wong, C., MacPhee, M., Ritchie, J.,
  Wolff, A., Regan, S., Rhéaume-Brüning, A., Jeffs, L., Young-Ritchie, C.,
  Grinspun, D., Gurnham, M. E., Foster, B., Huckstep, S., Ruffolo, M., Shamian, J.,
  Burkoski, V., Wood, K., & Read, E. (2016). Starting Out: A time-lagged study of
  new graduate nurses' transition to practice. *International Journal of Nursing*Studies, 57, 82–95. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.01.005

- Lee, K., Kim, E., Bhave, D. P., & Duffy, M. K. (2016). Why victims of undermining at work become perpetrators of undermining: An integrative model. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 101(6), 915–924. doi: 10.1037/apl0000092
- Lee, R. B., & DeVore, I. (2017). Problems in the study of hunters and gatherers. In *Man the hunter* (pp. 3-12). Routledge, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.
- Lee, T. W., Hom, P. W., Eberly, M. B., Junchao, L., & Mitchell, T. R. (2017). On the next decade of research in voluntary employee turnover. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 31(3), 201-221.
- Lim, V. K., Teo, T. S., & Nishant, R. (2017). Cyber Incivility at the Workplace (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University).
- Linton, S. J., Kecklund, G., Franklin, K. A., Leissner, L. C., Sivertsen, B., Lindberg, E.,
  Svensson, A. C., Hansson, S. O., Sundin, Ö., Hetta, J., Björkelund, C., & Hall, C.
  (2015). The effect of the work environment on future sleep disturbances: a
  systematic review. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 23, 10–19. doi:
  10.1016/j.smrv.2014.10.010
- Linvill, J. S., & Connaughton, S. L. (2018). Coping with Workplace Incivility: A

  Qualitative Study of the Strategies Targets Utilize. In *the Routledge Handbook of*Communication and Bullying (pp. 116-126). Routledge, Philadelphia,

  Pennsylvania.
- Logan, J. S., Andrson, M., & Stoekel, P. (2017). Using Cognitive Rehearsal to Address

  Nurse-to-Nurse Incivility: Student Perceptions. Presentation for Sigma

  Repository. http://hdl.handle.net/10755/621232

- Loh, J. M., & Loi, N. (2018). Tit for tat: Burnout as a mediator between workplace incivility and instigated workplace incivility. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Business Administration*, 10(1), 100-111. doi:10.1108/apjba-11-2017-0132
- Loi, N. M., Loh, J. M. I. & Hine, D. W. (2015), "Don't rock the boat: The moderating role of gender in the relationship between workplace incivility and work withdrawal", *Journal of Management Development*, Vol. 34 No. 2, pp. 169-186. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-12-2012-0152
- Lu, J. (2015). Organizational or social benefits? The progressiveness of policy advocacy in nonprofit human service organizations. *Human Service Organizations:*Management, Leadership & Governance, 39(5), 509-521.

  doi:10.1080/23303131.2015.1056900
- Mahfooz, Z., Arshad, A., Nisar, Q. A., Ikram, M., & Azeem, M. (2017). Does Workplace
  Incivility & Workplace Ostracism influence the Employees' Turnover Intentions?
  Mediating Role of Burnout and Job Stress & Moderating Role of psychological
  Capital. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social*Sciences, 7(8), 398-413.
- Marchiondo, L. A., Biermeier-Hanson, B., Krenn, D. R., & Kabat-Farr, D. (2018). Target Meaning-Making of Workplace Incivility Based on Perceived Personality Similarity with Perpetrators. *The Journal of psychology*, *152*(7), 474-496.
- Marlowe, F. W. (2005). Hunter-gatherers and human evolution. *Evolutionary*Anthropology: Issues, News, and Reviews: Issues, News, and Reviews, 14(2), 54-67.

- Martinez, J. O., & Eisenberg, J. (2019). Incivility and Beyond at the Top Management Team Level. *Organization Management Journal*, 16:2, 1-13.
- Martin-Misener, R., Donald, F., Wickson-Griffiths, A., Akhtar-Danesh, N., Ploeg, J.,
  Brazil, K., Kaasalainen, S., McAiney, C., Carter, N., Schindel Martin, L.,
  Sangster-Gormley, E., & Taniguchi, A. (2016). A mixed methods study of the
  work patterns of full-time nurse practitioners in nursing homes. *Journal of clinical nursing*, 24(9-10), 1327–1337. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.12741
- Massimino, P. M., & Turner, K. (2017). Business Etiquette and Career Advancement: Do Manners Still Matter? *Proceedings of the Northeast Business & Economics Association*, 186-190.
- Mathieu, C., Fabi, B., Lacoursière, R., & Raymond, L. (2016). The role of supervisory behavior, job satisfaction and organizational commitment on employee turnover. *Journal of Management & Organization*, 22(1), 113-129.
- McFadden, P., Mallett, J., & Leiter, M. (2018). Extending the two-process model of burnout in child protection workers: The role of resilience in mediating burnout via organizational factors of control, values, fairness, reward, workload, and community relationships. *Stress & Health: Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress*, 34(1), 72–83. doi: 10.1002/smi.2763
- McNall, L. A., Scott, L. D., & Nicklin, J. M. (2015). Do positive affectivity and boundary preferences matter for work–family enrichment? A study of human service workers. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 20(1), 93.

- McPherson, P., & Buxton, T. (2019). In their own words: Nurses countering workplace incivility. *Nursing forum*, 54(3), 455–460. https://doi.org/10.1111/nuf.12354
- Mikaelian, B., & Stanley, D. (2016). Incivility in nursing: from roots to repair. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 24(7), 962-969.
- Miller, O. (2017). *Employee turnover in the public sector*. Routledge, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.
- Miner, K. N., Diaz, I., Wooderson, R. L., McDonald, J. N., Smittick, A. L., & Lomeli, L.
  C. (2018). A workplace incivility roadmap: Identifying theoretical speedbumps
  and alternative routes for future research. *Journal of occupational health*psychology, 23(3), 320.
- Mizzi, R. C. (2017). Leadership for organizational diversity: Tackling micro-aggressions in educators' workplaces (Vol. 3). In A. B. Knox, S. C. O. Conceição, & L. G.
  Martin (Eds.), Mapping the field of adult and continuing education: An international compendium (pp. 48-49). Sterling, VA: Stylus.
- Moisuc, A., & Brauer, M. (2019). Social norms are enforced by friends: The effect of relationship closeness on bystanders' tendency to confront perpetrators of uncivil, immoral, and discriminatory behaviors. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 49(4), 824-830.
- Mokyr, J. (2018). *The Economics of the Industrial Revolution (Routledge Revivals)*. Routledge, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.
- Mommsen, W., & Husung, H. G. (2017). *The Development of Trade Unionism in Great Britain and Germany, 1880-1914*. Routledge, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

- Morse, J. M., Stern, P. N., Corbin, J., Bowers, B., Charmaz, K., & Clarke, A. E. (2016). *Developing grounded theory: The second generation*. Routledge, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.
- National Center for Charitable Statistics. (2016, April). Quick Facts About Nonprofits.

  Retrieved from https://nccs.urban.org/data-statistics/quick-facts-about-nonprofits
- Neff, W. (2017). Work and human behavior. Routledge, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.
- Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research.
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. Evidence Based Nursing, 18(2), 34-35. doi:10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Novak, K. L. (2018). Civility in the Workplace: A Lesson in Humanity (Doctoral dissertation, University of North Dakota).
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1), 1609406917733847.
- Odu, A. G., & Akhigbe, O. J. (2018). Workplace Ethics and Employee Commitment of Oil Servicing Firms In Nigeria. *Social Science Learning Education Journal*, 3(3), 16-24.
- Park, Y., Fritz, C., & Jex, S. M. (2018). Daily cyber incivility and distress: The moderating roles of resources at work and home. *Journal of Management*, 44(7), 2535-2557.

- Paulin, D., & Griffin, B. (2016). The relationship between incivility, team climate for incivility and job-related employee well-being: A multilevel analysis. Work & Stress, 80, 132-151. doi:10.1080/02678373.2016.1173124
- Percy, W. H., Kostere, K., & Kostere, S. (2015). Generic qualitative research in psychology. *The Qualitative Report, 20(2),* 76. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Perez, G. M. (2017). Workplace Incivility as Experienced by Hispanic Female Teachers in a South Texas Public High School Led by a Hispanic Female

  Principal (Doctoral dissertation, Texas A&M University).
- Petrou, P., Demerouti, E., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2016). Crafting the Change: The Role of Employee Job Crafting Behaviors for Successful Organizational Change. *Journal of Management*, 44(5), 1766-1792.
- Pindek, S., & Spector, P. E. (2015). Contextual factors in employee mistreatment. In P. L.
  Perrewé, J. R. B. Halbesleben, & C. C. Rosen (Eds.), *Research in occupational*stress and well-being: Vol. 13. Mistreatment in organizations (p. 193–224).
  Emerald Group Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1479-355520150000013007
- Porath, C. L., Gerbasi, A., & Schorch, S. L. (2015). The effects of civility on advice, leadership, and performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 100(5), 1527-41 doi:10.1037/ap 10000016
- Prieto, L. C., Norman, M. V., Phipps, S. T., & Chenault, E. B. (2016). Tackling Micro-Aggressions in Organizations: A Broken Windows Approach. *Journal of Leadership, Accountability and Ethics*, 13(3).

- Rahim, A., & Cosby, D. M. (2016). A model of workplace incivility, job burnout, turnover intentions, and job performance. *Journal of Management Development*, 35(10), 1255-1265.
- Reich, T. C., & Hershcovis, M. S. (2015). Observing workplace incivility. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 100(1), 203.
- Renard, M., & Snelgar, R. (2016). The engagement and retention of nonprofit employees in Belgium and South Africa. *South African Journal of Human Resource Management, Vol 14, Iss 1, Pp E1-E12 (2016)*, (1), e1.

  doi:10.4102/sajhrm.v14i1.795
- Rockett, P., Fan, S. K., Dwyer, R. J., & Foy, T. (2017). A human resource management perspective of workplace bullying. *Journal of Aggression, Conflict and Peace Research*, 9(2), 116-127. doi: 10.1108/JACPR-11-2016-0262
- Rosenberg, M. B., & Chopra, D. (2015). Nonviolent communication: A language of life:

  Life-changing tools for healthy relationships. PuddleDancer Press, Encinitas,

  California.
- Rosenthal, L. (2016). Incorporating intersectionality into psychology: An opportunity to promote social justice and equity. *American Psychologist*, 71(6), 474.
- Roulston, K., & Shelton, S. A. (2015). Reconceptualizing bias in teaching qualitative research methods. Qualitative Inquiry, 21(4), 332-342. doi:10.1177/1077800414563803

- Sampson, J. P. (2017, March 24). A Guide to Quantitative and Qualitative Dissertation Research (Doctoral dissertation, Florida State University). Retrieved from <a href="https://diginole.lib.fsu.edu/islandora/object/fsu:207241/datastream/PDF/">https://diginole.lib.fsu.edu/islandora/object/fsu:207241/datastream/PDF/</a>
- Schenck, K. S. (2017). Strategies for Addressing Workplace Incivility and Retention in a Healthcare System (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University).
- Schilpzand, P., De Pater, I. E., & Erez, A. (2016). Workplace incivility: A review of the literature and agenda for future research. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, (S1), 57. doi: 10.1002/job.1976
- Schilpzand, P., De Pater, I. E., & Erez, A. (2016). Workplace incivility: A review of the literature and agenda for future research. *Journal of Organizational behavior*, *37*, S57-S88.
- Selden, S. C., & Sowa, J. E. (2015). Voluntary turnover in nonprofit human service organizations: the impact of high-performance work practices. *Human Service Organizations Management, Leadership & Governance*, (3), 182.
- Sguera, F., Bagozzi, R. P., Huy, Q. N., Boss, R. W., & Boss, D. S. (2016). Curtailing the harmful effects of workplace incivility: The role of structural demands and organization-provided resources. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 95, 115-127.
- Shier, M. L., Nicholas, D. B., Graham, J. R., & Young, A. (2018). Preventing workplace violence in human services workplaces: Organizational dynamics to support positive interpersonal interactions among colleagues. *Human Service Organizations: Management, Leadership & Governance, 42*(1), 4-18.

- Shin, Y., & Hur, W.-M. (2019). Linking flight attendants' job crafting and OCB from a JD-R perspective: A daily analysis of the mediation of job resources and demands. *Journal of Air Transport Management*, 79, 101681. doi: 10.1016/j.jairtraman.2019.101681
- Shuffler, M. L., Diazgranados, D., Maynard, M. T., & Salas, E. (2018). Developing, Sustaining, and Maximizing Team Effectiveness: An Integrative, Dynamic Perspective of Team Development Interventions. *Academy of Management Annals*, 12(2), 688-724. doi:10.5465/annals.2016.0045
- Silverman, D. (Ed.). (2016). Qualitative research. Sage, Newbury Park, California.
- Sinha, P. R. N., Sinha, I. B., & Shekhar, S. P. (2017). *Industrial Relations, Trade Unions and Labor Legislation*. Pearson Education, New York, New York.
- Slate, R. N. (2016). Deinstitutionalization, criminalization of mental illness, and the principle of therapeutic jurisprudence. *S. Cal. Interdisc. LJ*, *26*, 341.
- Sliter, M., Withrow, S., & Jex, S. M. (2015). It happened, or you thought it happened? Examining the perception of workplace incivility based on personality characteristics. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 22(1), 24.
- Stearns, P. N. (2018). *The industrial revolution in world history*. Routledge, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.
- St. Pierre, T. M. (2019). Workplace Incivility: A Quantitative Study of Public University

  Staff Member Experiences in the Northeast (Doctoral dissertation, University of

  Southern Maine). Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.usm.maine.edu/etd/370/

- Thompson, J. D. (2017). Organizations in action: Social science bases of administrative theory. Routledge, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. ISBN: 9780765809919
- Ting-Toomey, S., & Dorjee, T. (2018). *Communicating across cultures*. Guilford Publications, New York, New York. ISBN: 9781462536481
- Tisdell, C., & Svizzero, S. (2017). The ability in antiquity of some agrarian societies to avoid the Malthusian trap and develop. In *Forum for Social Economics* (pp. 1-26). Routledge, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. doi:10.1080/07360932.2017.1356344
- Torres, E. N., van Niekerk, M., & Orlowski, M. (2017). Customer and employee incivility and its causal effects in the hospitality industry. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 26(1), 48-66. doi:10.1080/19368623.2016.1178620
- Vagharseyyedin, S. A. (2015). Workplace incivility: a concept analysis. *Contemporary*Nurse, 50, 115 125. doi:10.1080/10376178.2015.1010262
- Vardi, Y., & Weitz, E. (2016). *Misbehavior in organizations: A dynamic approach*.

  Routledge, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. ISBN: 9781317555360
- Walsh, B. M., Lee, J. J., Jensen, J. M., McGonagle, A. K., & Samnani, A. K. (2018).
  Positive leader behaviors and workplace incivility: The mediating role of perceived norms for respect. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 33(4), 495-508.
- Walsh, G. (2014). Extra- and intraorganizational drivers of workplace deviance. *Service Industries Journal*, 34, 1134–1153. doi:10.1080/02642069.2014.939645
- Warrner, J., Sommers, K., Zappa, M., & Thornlow, D. K. (2016). Decreasing workplace incivility. *Nursing Management*, 47(1), 22-30.

- Welbourne, J. L., Gangadharan, A., & Esparza, C. A. (2016). Coping style and gender effects on attitudinal responses to incivility. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 31(3), 720-738.
- Wilkerson, J. M., & Meyer, J. C. (2019). On Observers' Conjunctive Attributions and Blame for Workplace Mistreatment. *Organization Management Journal*, *16*(2), 111–122. doi: 10.1080/15416518.2019.1604201
- Williams, K. S., & Loughlin, C. (2016). Cyber Incivility: Experiences of Canadian NonProfit Leads. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, 2016(1), 14767. doi: 10.5465/ambpp.2016.14767abstract
- Willis, N., Chavkin, N., & Leung, P. (2016). Finding "health" and "meaning" in Texassized turnover: Application of seminal management principles for administration and research in US public child welfare agencies. *Advances in Social Work*, 17(2), 116-133. doi:10.18060/20856
- Wrench, J. S. (2017). Quantitative methodology. The International Encyclopedia of Communication Research Methods, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118901731.iecrm0197
- Zhang, S., Ma, C., Meng, D., Shi, Y., Xie, F., Wang, J., ... Sun, T. (2018). Impact of workplace incivility in hospitals on the work ability, career expectations and job performance of Chinese nurses: a cross-sectional survey. BMJ Open, 8(12), e021874. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-021874
- Zhou, Z. E., Yan, Y., Che, X. X., & Meier, L. L. (2015). Effect of workplace incivility on end-of-work negative affect: Examining individual and organizational moderators

in a daily diary study. Journal of occupational health psychology, 20(1), 117.

doi:10.1037/a0038167

## Appendix A: Interview Questions

## **Demographic Questions**

- 1. Gender:
- 2. Age
- 3. Race/Ethnicity
- 4. Job Level:
- 5. Years of experience as a Manager:
- 6. Number of employees you currently manage:

## **Semi-Structured Interview Questions**

- 1. Tell me how you define workplace incivility?
- 2. Describe the uncivil behaviors that your employee engaged in.
- 3. Tell me about a time when you successfully used a strategy to help an uncivil employee overcome their behaviors?
- 4. How did you develop the strategy you used?
- 5. Why did you to choose that strategy?
- 6. Why do you view that strategy as successful?
- 7. Describe strategies that you feel are not successful when dealing with uncivil employee behaviors.
- 8. How have you seen workplace incivility impact employee turnover?
- 9. In what ways do you feel supported or unsupported by your organization when dealing with uncivil employee behaviors?

- 10. Describe ways you feel your organization can better support you when dealing with employee behaviors.
- 11. Is there anything else you would like to share about this experience that you have not had the opportunity to share?